O R I A
Advancing eye research

2011

Annual Report
The Ophthalmic
Research Institute
of Australia

The Ophthalmic
Research Institute
of Australia

94-98 Chalmers Street, Surry Hills NSW 2010
Tel: (02) 8394 5218 Fax: (02) 9690 1321
Email: asnape@ranzco.edu Web: www.oria.org.au

Notice of Meeting
The Annual Report will be presented
at the Fifty Ninth
Annual General Meeting
to be held at the National Convention Centre
Canberra, ACT
on Sunday 20 November 2011
at 8.30 am.

2

ORIA ANNUAL REPORT 2011

THE BOARD

A/Prof Mark D Daniell, Melbourne (Chairman)
Professor Mark Gillies, Sydney (Vice Chairman)
Professor Stuart L Graham, Sydney (Honorary Secretary)
A/Prof Robert Casson, Adelaide (Honorary Treasurer)
Dr R Max Conway, Sydney
Professor J Crowston, Melbourne
Dr W Heriot, Melbourne
Dr Anthony Kwan, Brisbane
Professor David Mackey, Perth
Professor Peter J McCluskey, Sydney
Dr John Males, Sydney
Dr Richard Mills, Adelaide
Dr Andrea Vincent, New Zealand
Dr Stephanie Watson, Sydney
Professor Tien Wong, Melbourne and Singapore

RESEARCH ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Professor Peter J McCluskey (Chair)
Dr Richard Mills (Secretary)
A/Prof Robert Casson
A/Prof Helen Danesh-Meyer
A/Prof Mark Daniell (ex officio as Chairman ORIA)
Dr Nick Di Girolamo
Professor Stuart L Graham
Professor David Mackey
Dr Trevor Sherwin (co-opted)
A/Prof Jan Provis
Save Sight Society NZ representative – Dr Stephen Guest
Anne Dunn Snape, Executive Officer, ORIA

HONORARY SECRETARY

Professor Stuart L Graham
94-98 Chalmers Street, Surry Hills 2010

HONORARY TREASURER

A/Prof Robert Casson
94-98 Chalmers Street, Surry Hills 2010

ACCOUNTANTS

Haines Norton
Level 8, 607 Bourke Street, Melbourne 3000

AUDITORS

Orr Martin & Waters
461 Whitehorse Road, Balwyn 3103

TRUSTEES

National Australia Trustees Ltd, Melbourne

SOLICITORS

Malleson Stephens Jaques
Advance Bank Centre
60 Marcus Clarke Street, Canberra 2600

INVESTMENT ADVISORY
COMMITTEE

A/Prof Mark Daniell – Chairman ORIA
A/Prof Robert Casson – Hon Treasurer ORIA
Dr Peter Henderson
Dr Wilson Heriot – ORIA Board Member
Mr Andrew Miller – Senior Adviser, UBS Wealth Management
Mr Dennis Clarebrough – Director-Equities, Lodge Partners Pty
Ltd
Mr William Jones – Principal, Goldman Sachs J B Were Limited
Secretary to the Committee, Mr Matthew Timothee – National
Australia Trustees Limited

EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Ms Anne Dunn Snape, BA (Soc Sc& Pol Phil), (MU)
PostGradC Ethics & Legal Studs

ORIA ANNUAL REPORT 2011

3

Chairman’s report
The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia is the College’s research arm,
and aims to ‘Advance Eye Research’. The ORIA’s activities are co-ordinated
and managed by the 14-member Board of the ORIA and Executive Officer,
Anne Dunn Snape.
Using the income from its investments and donor organisations, the
ORIA continued to contribute to funding for research projects throughout
Australia. During the year the ORIA’s Research Advisory Committee
considered 30 applications for project funding from Australian researchers, a
significant increase from 19 assessed in 2004. It also assessed three New
Zealand applications for funding on behalf of the Save Sight Society of New Zealand. The NZ Branch is
represented on the committee via its Save Sight Society.
The ORIA’s Research Advisory Committee is composed of leading research scientists and
ophthalmologists from Australia and New Zealand. All applications are independently peer reviewed which
forms the basis for discussion and recommendation of funding by the Committee. The recommendations of
the Committee are put forward to the Board of the ORIA who then indicate what funds are available for the
forthcoming calendar year. This year $485,400 was distributed to fund 11 one-year projects. The RANZCO
Eye Foundation contributed $100,000 towards co-supporting three projects and Glaucoma Australia Inc.
$63,330 to co-support three projects. We are most grateful to both organisations for their continuing support
along with previous benefactors whose legacies are acknowledged through the naming of individual grants.
The ORIA continued funding a New Investigator category in an endeavour to encourage up-and-coming
researchers; three grants were awarded this year.
Significant projects to receive funding were:
ORIA/Eye Foundation Grant
Dr Ann Cornish, Dr Lyndell Lim & Dr Ian Wicks
Investigation of the Role of G-CSF in uveitis – $49,900
ORIA/Esme Anderson Grant
A/Prof Paul Baird
What role does immunity play in Age-related Macular
Degeneration (AMD) – $40,000
ORIA/Eye Foundation Grant
Prof Doug Coster, Dr Sonja Klebe & Prof Keryn Williams
Do transplants of corneal endothelium undergo rejection? – $48,000
ORIA/WA Quinlivan/Glaucoma Australia Grant
A/Prof Robert Casson
Can Glucose Eye Drops Improve Vision in Glaucoma? – $30,000

Dr Richard Mills and
Dr Andrea Vincent
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Dr Vicki Chrysostomou receiving an
ORIA New Investigator/Glaucoma
Australia Inc grant.

Details of all other grants awarded can be found on the ORIA
website www.oria.org.au and for New Zealand at www.safesight
society.org.nz.
During the year, the ORIA launched a Milestones Brochure
focusing on just some of its research milestones during the previous
ten years. The Milestones highlights that during the past ten years, the
ORIA has provided around $5 million to support 123 annual projects
in institutions and departments throughout Australia. During 2011, of
the six applications received from South Australian institutions, five
were funded (83%); from New South Wales institutions, two from five
were funded (28%); and Victorian institutions, four from 11 were

funded (36%). Projects from Western Australia and
Queensland rated well but unfortunately due to lack of
funds, could not be supported by the ORIA. This is an
indication of the funding provided by the ORIA to all
institutions and all states in Australia. Indeed, all states
(other than Tasmania) and both territories, have
received ORIA funding. As well, the ORIA does not
focus on providing funding for one disease. It has
provided funds to research all major eye diseases
including macular degeneration, glaucoma, low
vision, lens and cataract and diabetic retinopathy.
AGM at Adelaide
Part of the ORIA’s strategic plan is to promote its
role to College Fellows. At an ORIA symposium at the
Annual Scientific Congress of the College in Adelaide, South Australia, the Institute presented a symposium
focusing on the retina.
The ORIA was pleased to support the very successful Asia/ARVO 2011 meeting held in Singapore
during January. Funding from the ORIA was used by Asia/ARVO to provide travel fellowship grants for
young investigators from Australia; Shata Pebbeti, Muhammad Sasongko, Prema Sriram, Yasser Tariq,
Johnson Thie, Fan Xiang, Joanne Yau and
Agnieszka Zuber. As well, the ORIA
presented the results of previously funded
research at a symposium. Co-Chairs of the
symposium were Prof Ian McAllister and
Prof Robyn Guymer. Prof David Mackey,
Prof Robert Casson and A/Prof Paul Baird
were also in attendance and presented at the
ORIA session.
The ORIA has continued its support of
the Australasian Ophthalmic and Visual
Sciences Meeting (AOVSM). After running
this
meeting concurrently last year at
Prof Robyn Guymer, Prof David Mackey, Prof Ian McAllister and
A/Prof Paul Baird at the Asia/ARVO meeting, Singapore 2011.

RANZCO in Adelaide, it was agreed to continue this format. This year’s
meeting will be held during the Canberra Congress from Sunday 20
November and all fellows are encouraged to attend. Attendees of both
RANZCO and the AOVSM can
access all program meetings.
The ORIA also continues its
annual support of the Ringland
Anderson Chair of Ophthalmology in Victoria.
During the year, the ORIA
ORIA booth at the APAO,
saw some changes to its Board
Sydney 2011.
with longstanding member and
previous Chair, Dr Richard
Stawell stepping down. We are indebted to his commitment towards
advancing research into eye disease in Australia and the ORIA in
particular.
Patricia Poulos, the ORIA’s Grants’
Administrative Assistant at the
Chalmers Street office.

Mark Daniell, Chairman, ORIA
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ORIA grants awarded in 2011
ORIA/EyE FOundAtIOn GRAnt
dr Gabrielle Goldberg, dr Lyndell Lim & dr Ian Wicks
Investigation of the Role of G-CSF in uveitis
$49,900
ORIA/EsmE AndERsOn GRAnt
A/Prof Paul Baird
What role does immunity play in Age-related Macular Degeneration (AMD)
$40,000
ORIA/EyE FOundAtIOn GRAnt
Prof doug Coster, dr sonja Klebe & Prof Keryn Williams
Do transplants of corneal endothelium undergo rejection?
$48,000
ORIA/W A QuInLIvAn/GLAuCOmA AustRALIA GRAnt
A/Prof Robert Casson
Can Glucose Eye Drops Improve Vision in Glaucoma?
$30,000
ORIA/EyE FOundAtIOn GRAnt
Prof stuart Graham, dr Alexander Klistorner & dr yuyi you
Measurement and monitoring of demyelination in vivo using an animal model of optic neuritis
$45,000
ORIA nEW InvEstIGAtOR GRAnt
dr Karl Brown, A/Prof mark daniell, dr Keren Abberton & dr Berkay Ozcelik
Bioengineered Corneal Endothelium
$49,500
ORIA/REnEnssOn BEQuEst GRAnt
Prof John mcAvoy & A/Prof Frank Lovicu
Do primary cilia provide the key to promoting regeneration of a transparent lens after cataract surgery?
$45,000
ORIA nEW InvEstIGAtOR/W A QuInLIvAn/GLAuCOmA AustRALIA GRAnt
dr vicki Chrysostomou
The impact of exercise on the response of aged retinal ganglion cells to injury
$46,000
ORIA/W A QuInLIvAn/GLAuCOmA AustRALIA GRAnt
dr Kathryn Burdon, A/Prof Jamie Craig, dr James muecke, dr Adam Rudkin & dr Jillian nicholl
Genetic causes of childhood blindness in Sri Lanka and Cambodia
$48,000
ORIA/IdA mAnn GRAnt
dr shiwani sharma, dr tim Chataway, dr Bastien Llamas, dr Grant snibson & dr Richard mills
To understand the cause of a blinding corneal disease; Fuchs’ endothelial dystrophy
$40,000
ORIA nEW InvEstIGAtOR GRAnt
dr Jwu Jin Khong
Understanding thyroid eye disease
$44,000
tOtAL: $485,400.00
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THANKS
With many thanks for donations to:
Glaucoma Australia Inc
The RANZCO Eye Foundation

The Institute would like to thank our external referees
who kindly gave advice which helped with the
allocation of the 2011 grants.
Adam Gajdatsy, Perth
Alex Harper, Melbourne
Andrew Lee, Adelaide
Anthony Pane, Brisbane
Ben Connell, Australia
Carmel Toomes, England
Celia Chen, Adelaide
Colin R. Green, New Zealand
Dennis Yue, Sydney
Dipika Patel, New Zealand
Dr Gerard Sutton, Sydney
Dr Damien Harkin, Brisbane
Harry Quigley, Baltimore, US
Henry Jampel, Baltimore, US
Ian Francis, Australia
Ian McAllister, Perth

Ian Morgan, Canberra
James Vickers, Tasmania
Jeanie Chui, Sydney
Jennifer McGhee, New Zealand
Jez Guggenheim, Cardiff, Wales
Jill Keeffe, Melbourne
Jim McAlister, Brisbane
Jo Sims, New Zealand
John Foster, Sydney
John Grigg, Sydney
Kathryn Burdon, Adelaide
Kerry Fitzmaurice, Melbourne
Keryn Williams, Adelaide
Lawrence Hirst, Brisbane
Lyndell Lim, Melbourne
Michael Thiel, Switzerland

Our Executive Officer, Anne Dunn Snape caught up with a
relative at the National Gallery of Australia, Canberra this year.
The gallery purchased the portrait of Mr John Mezger, her
great-great-great-grandfather, in 2010. The artist was William
Buelow Gould, whose Sketchbook of Fishes was listed by
UNESCO as the equivalent of World Heritage Listing in March
2011. A painting of Mr Mezger’s Mill was painted by Frederick
McCubbin and hangs in the National Gallery of Victoria.

Michelle Madigan, Sydney
Monica Acosta, New Zealand
Niladri Saha, Adelaide
Penny McKelvie, Melbourne
Peter van Wijngaarden, Melbourne
Raf Ghabrial, Sydney
Robyn Guymer, Melbourne
Robyn Jamieson, Sydney
Sonja.Klebe, Adelaide
Stewart Lake, Adelaide
Sue Abhary, Adelaide
Tahira Malik, New Zealand
Tien Wong, Singapore
Tony Moore, New Zealand
Weiyong Shen, Sydney
Wilson Heriot, Melbourne

A/Prof Damien Harkin from QUT was
deemed to provide the “most useful”
review for the Research Advisory
Committee this year. We are of course
appreciative of the input of all our
reviewers.
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Progress reports on research
supported by ORIA Institute grants 2010

ORIA/RANZCO Grant

Genetic influences in retinopathy of prematurity: improved screening for eye
disease in premature babies
Prof KA Williams and Prof DJ Coster

Overview and aim
Retinopathy of prematurity is a blinding condition of some premature infants who require neonatal intensive
care and supplemental oxygen therapy. Severe retinal disease affects approximately 5% of these neonates
and despite best available care, 10–15% will suffer significant visual impairment. There is increasing
evidence that genetic factors, as yet unknown, determine susceptibility to human retinopathy of prematurity.
In this work, we are investigating the molecular basis for our discovery that different strains of inbred rat
exhibit differential susceptibility to oxygen-induced retinopathy, a robust animal model of human disease.
Our specific aim is to quantify mRNAs, proteins and microRNAs expressed in the retinae of three inbred rat
strains showing extremes of phenotypic susceptibility, during neonatal hyperoxic exposure. The hypothesis
is that some will be differentially expressed in different strains in response to cyclic hyperoxia, compared
with normoxia.
Background
Retinopathy of prematurity is a major cause of childhood blindness. However, not every premature infant
develops retinopathy of prematurity, and a genetic propensity is highly likely to influence susceptibility to
disease. Our long-term goal is to identify heritable traits that influence the development and progression of
human ROP, so that infants who are at risk may be identified and appropriately treated, whereas infants who
are not at risk may be spared unnecessary interventions. Our approach is predicated on the likelihood that
identification of susceptibility traits in the animal model will provide strong clues to similar factors
operating in humans. Furthermore, identification of those networks of genes that are differentially expressed
at different time-points during development of ROP will permit targeted intervention at the most appropriate
stage of human retinal development. In summary, we hope to illuminate the pathogenesis of this devastating
condition, enable identification of infants at high risk of developing blinding retinopathy, streamline
screening prior to disease progression, and identify new therapeutic targets for early intervention.
Progress to date
mRNA arrays. We have performed a screen of retinal mRNAs from rat strains that are either resistant or
sensitive to oxygen-induced retinopathy, using Affymetrix arrays covering over 27,000 genes. As
anticipated, false discovery rate analysis returned relatively few significant differences after adjusting for
multiple comparisons. Genes that differed were ranked by fold change in expression, and submitted to the
online database “DAVID”, to identify enriched gene groups. More genes regulated by HIF-1α, or that were
part of the oxygen-sensing pathway, were present in the susceptible than the resistant strain. Independent
confirmation (real-time qRT-PCR or Western blot) showed that Egln3 (encodes prolyl hydroxylase-3), Nasp
(histone chaperone), Slc16a3 (pyruvate and lactate export), hexokinase 2 (glycolysis) and Bnip3 (Bcl-2
family, apoptosis), all of which are oxygen-regulated, were differentially expressed.
Proteomics. Using two-dimensional fluorescence difference in gel electrophoresis (2DIGE) and mass
spectrometry, we examined the retinal proteomes of different rat strains rats during hyperoxic exposure, and
identified 40 proteins (pI range 3-7) with altered levels of expression following hyperoxic exposure. The
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experiment is being replicated for proteins with a pI in the range 7-11. Potentially relevant candidates are
being independently confirmed (real-time qRT-PCR or Western blot) and pathway analysis will follow. One
confirmed candidate is a component of the multi-subunit signalosome that aids in targeting proteins such as
HIF-1α for destruction through the 26S proteasome pathway.
MicroRNAs. MicroRNAs are short non-coding sequences of RNA, 21-22 nucleotides in length, that regulate
gene expression at a post-transcriptional level. Binding of microRNAs to their target mRNAs results in
mRNA degradation or inhibition of protein synthesis. A single microRNA can potentially regulate hundreds
of genes, including those involved in disease pathogenesis. MicroRNAs show polymorphisms associated
with disease susceptibility in humans as well as in binding sites in the 3' untranslated region of specific target
mRNAs. The majority of cloned microRNAs are highly conserved across species and have been identified
in many tissues including the eye. MicroRNAs play a role in development, angiogenesis, and responses to
hypoxia and hyperoxia. We have now examined microRNA expression in the induction phase of oxygeninduced retinopathy in sensitive and resistant rat strains using Exiqon arrays that represent 1,500
microRNAs. MicroRNAs were identified as candidates if they targeted oxygen-related genes, were
regulated by both oxygen and strain, or had significant adjusted p values (p<0.05) after correction for
multiple comparisons.
We have identified 12 microRNAs that are differentially
expressed in inbred Fischer 344 and Sprague-Dawley rats
exposed to hyperoxia or room air, lending credence to our
hypothesis that some of the phenotypic differences in
susceptibility to OIR amongst inbred rat strains involve posttranscriptional change. Several of the microRNAs are
predicted to target elements of the oxygen sensing pathway,
and confirmation of these interesting targets is progressing.
We acknowledge the essential contributions of Ms Melinda
Tea, Mr Rhys Fogarty and Dr Alex Colella to this work.
Bronchopulmonary dysplasia. The use of sustained
supplemental oxygen in premature infants is associated with
Figure. Representative volcano plot:
bronchopulmonary dysplasia, as well as ROP. To establish if
Bayesian log odds of retinal miRNA
hyperoxic exposure sufficient to induce florid retinopathy
expression versus log2 fold change at day
would induce strain-specific lung changes, lung function was
P5. Candidate miRs that exhibit differential
assessed. No differences in arterial blood gases or protein
expression between Fischer 344 and
concentration of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid were observed
Sprague-Dawley rats by both strain and
amongst
different strains. Pulmonary vascularity increased in
hyperoxic exposure are circled.
all oxygen-exposed animals compared with controls, but there
was no difference between strains. The minor morphological
differences found in the lung did not affect pulmonary function, suggesting that mechanisms inducing eye
disease and bronchopulmonary dysplasia are fundamentally different.
Publications arising from ORIA support for this project
•

van Wijngaarden P, Brereton HM, Coster DJ, Williams KA. Hereditary influences in oxygen-induced
retinopathy in the rat. Doc Ophthalmol 2010; 120: 87-97.

•

Klebe S, van Wijngaarden P, Melville T, Lipsett J, De Smet H, Coster DJ, Williams KA. Exposure to
cyclic oxygen sufficient for development of oxygen-induced retinopathy does not induce
bronchopulmonary dysplasia in rats. Exp Lung Res 2010; 36: 175-82.

Publications arising from ORIA support for projects in the recent past
•

Tea M, Fogarty R, Brereton HM, Michael MZ, Van der Hoek MB, Tsykin A, Coster DJ, Williams KA.
Gene expression microarray analysis of early oxygen-induced retinopathy in the rat. J Ocul Biol Dis
Infor 2009; 2: 190-201.
ORIA ANNUAL REPORT 2011
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•

Williams KA, Brereton HM, Coster DJ. Prospects for genetic modulation of corneal graft survival. Eye
(Lond) 2009; 23: 1904-9.

•

Parker DG, Coster DJ, Brereton HM, Hart PH, Koldej R, Anson DS, Williams KA. Lentivirus-mediated
gene transfer of interleukin 10 to the ovine and human cornea. Clin Experiment Ophthalmol 2010; 38:
405-13.

ORIA Young Investigator/RANZCO Eye Foundation Grant

The effect of hyperglycaemia on experimental glaucoma
Prof R Casson and Prof P Blumbergs

Aims
Glaucoma refers to a family of optic neuropathies with multi-factorial aetiology. Lowering the intraocular
pressure is currently the only evidence-based treatment approach for glaucomatous optic neuropathy.
However, this does not stop progression in all patients and new treatment strategies, referred to as
neuroprotective, are needed. The pathogenesis of glaucoma remains unclear, but there is good evidence that
the optic nerve head (ONH) is involved early in the pathogenesis of the disease. Inadequate blood supply to
the ONH may play a role, at least in some types of glaucoma. Given that vasculopathy is a hallmark of
diabetes, one would expect that diabetes might exacerbate glaucoma; however, in large epidemiological
studies no clear association was found. The Ocular Hypertension Treatment Study (OHTS) even suggested
that diabetes protected against the conversion of ocular hypertension to glaucoma. In this project we
investigated the effect of short-term hyperglycaemia on retinal ganglion cell (RGC) death and optic nerve
damage in an experimental rat model of chronic ocular hypertension, which consisted of laser
photocoagulation of the trabecular meshwork.
Work completed
We started the project by establishing, characterising and validating a commonly used rat model of
experimental glaucoma. An ideal model should produce focal injury to RGC axons at the ONH and result
in death of groups of RGC in sectors in the retina. Argon laser photocoagulation models have been used in
mice and rats for a number of years. In general, the results from these methods have been consistent and the
models are considered to be reliable and efficient. We were able to successfully reproduce the model
described by Levkovitch-Verbin (IOVS 2002) and obtained similar intraocular pressure (IOP) profiles. We
thoroughly described and characterised this model in our laboratory.
Next, we invested significant time and effort in finding and standardising outcome measurements for
the quantification of optic nerve damage. Manual axon counting on transmission electron microscopy is
considered the gold standard to measure structural axonal damage. However, this method is extremely time
consuming and not practical to assess larger numbers of samples. We therefore adopted a protocol for semiautomated counting using light microscopy photographs of semi-thin resin cross sections. In addition, we
have made use of immunohistochemical stains to set up quantification tools to analyse longitudinal paraffin
processed sections of optic nerve tissue.
The final aim of this project was to investigate the influence of hyperglycaemia on experimental
glaucomatous optic neuropathy. This was achieved by analysing and comparing tissue samples of two
groups of experimental animals, comprising over 50 rats in total
Results
1. The optic nerve head is the site of axonal transport failure

In contrast to primates, rodents only possess a rudimentary lamina cribrosa, which extends via the neck to
the transition zone of the optic nerve (ON), while mice lack any connective tissue whatsoever. As such, it is
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important to ascertain whether the ONH is an important site of axonal transport failure in rodents. We
achieved this aim by immunolabelling for endogenous proteins, including amyloid precursor protein (APP),
synpatophysin and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), that are routinely synthesised by RGCs and
transported in an orthograde fashion. Previous reports by other groups generally used tracers injected into
the vitreous cavity. An advantage of our approach is that uptake and incorporation of labelled tracer into the
RGC body is circumvented. Moreover, the molecules analysed are of high, medium and low molecular
weight, respectively, and have quite distinct physiological roles. Our results showed accumulation of all
three proteins within axons throughout the ONH, but not distal to this location in the myelinated ON or optic
tract. We found axonal cytoskeletal abnormalities, such as neurofilament beading and swellings, in the ONH
at 24h after induction of raised IOP with a spatial pattern that overlapped with APP accumulation. This
suggests that axonal transport disruption is mechanical, and not simply functional, in a subset of axons at
very early time points. Nevertheless, in other axons, it is likely that active axonal transport dysfunction
significantly preceded physical damage.
In summary, our results support the findings of others that IOP elevations of the magnitude recorded
elicit an early insult at the lamina of the ONH with Wallerian-like degeneration of axons distal to the site of
injury.
2. Signs of restricted axonal regeneration can be found in this experimental rat model of glaucoma

Within the central nervous system (CNS), endogenous regenerative attempts are always unsuccessful. In the
visual system, for example, RGC axons display only transient, local sprouting, proximal to the lesion site
after ON crush. However, unlike the catastrophic injury caused by traumatic axonopathies such as ON crush,
RGCs are lost gradually during experimental glaucoma. We hypothesised that the inhibitory environment for
regeneration may be less pronounced and that regeneration strategies more effective. To date, no data was
available on the endogenous regenerative response of RGCs in models of glaucoma. And in fact, we
observed numerous Gap43-positive axons at 7d and notably 14d after injury in the nerve fibre layer at the
prelaminar ONH and continuing into the ON. On the whole, the Gap43 response was restricted to the neck
and transition region of the ONH, but scattered Gap43 immunopositive punctae could be observed beyond
the zone of myelination.
3. Microglial activation in the visual pathway correlates with axonal injury

We have performed an extensive characterization of the microglial response in our rat model of experimental
ocular hypertension. Microglia play a central role in a number of chronic neurodegenerative conditions of
the CNS, including among others Alzheimer’s disease, Parkinson’s disease and multiple sclerosis. In the
CNS, markers of microglia have been successfully used to measure the severity of brain damage. Microglial
activation occurred along the entire optic pathway and correlated closely with axonal damage. Microglia
unregulated the expression of immunologic cell surface markers, including complement receptor type 3,
major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I, and MHC class II, but the expression of MHC class II was
limited to cells within the white matter. Despite the increased expression of molecules associated with
antigen presentation, only minor T lymphocyte infiltration was observed. Overall results advocate microglial
activation as a useful adjunct quantitative tool for assessment of the status of ON damage.
4. Short-term hyperglycaemia is neuroprotective in experimental glaucoma

Experimental glaucomatous optic neuropathy was induced in a group of normoglycaemic (n = 26) and a
group of hyperglycaemic (n = 26) Sprague-Dawley rats. After two weeks of elevated intraocular pressure,
rats were killed by transcardial perfusion. Axonal loss was graded semi-quantitatively on transverse sections
of the ON. Longitudinal sections were immunohistochemically stained for glial markers. The degree of
axonal loss was significantly lower in the hyperglycaemic group of rats compared to the normoglycaemic
group. Axonal damage and RGC loss was reduced by about 50%. Possible explanations for this effect are
the attenuation of malperfusion induced energy failure by increasing the substrate for glycolysis or a shift in
metabolism resulting in reduction of reactive oxygen species induced apoptosis. Further studies are
warranted to elucidate the mechanism of neuroprotection.
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ORIA/R & L Lowe Grant

A transgenic model for selective ablation of Müller cells
Prof M C Gillies

Spanning the breadth of the retina from the inner to the outer limiting membranes, the Müller cell is a
specialised glial cell that serves numerous functions essential to retinal homeostasis. Through the extensive
arborisation of their processes, Müller cells constitute an anatomic and functional link between retinal
neurons and blood vessels. They play a central role in retinal glucose metabolism and the formation and
maintenance of the blood–retinal barrier (BRB), which makes Müller cells both a target and a potential key
player in retinal vascular diseases such as diabetic retinopathy (DR). To date, vascular abnormalities have
been the primary target for treatment of DR. Less is known about the specific role of Müller glial
dysfunction in retinal vascular diseases. A causal link between Müller cell dysfunction and BRB breakdown
has not been established. We hypothesise that Müller cell dysfunction is a major contributor to the
breakdown of the BRB that is a hallmark of retinal vascular diseases. This study aimed to generate a
transgenic model for selective and cell specific disruption of Muller cells in the retina, thus allowing us to
study the interactions of Müller glial dysfunction with retinal neuronal damage and vascular abnormalities.
1. Establishment of an inducible model for Müller cell-specific gene targeting

We have generated a DNA construct containing a Müller cell-specific promoter using a Cre/Lox-P gene
expression system (Fig. 1). The cell-specific promoter contains a 3-kb fragment of regulatory region of
CRALBP gene (Rlbp1) which has been shown to drive robust Müller cell-specific gene expression in the
retina1.
We have produced two transgenic lines (Rlbp1-CreRE mice) and both were crossed with Rosa-LacZ

Fig.1: DNA construct used for generation of transgenic mice specifically targeting Müller cells.

reporter mice for LacZ expression after tamoxifen (TMX) induction. LacZ expression in Rlbp1-lacZ mice
was specifically located to Müller cells and the levels of LacZ expression were likely controlled by doses of
TMX induction (Fig. 2).
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Fig. 2: LacZ expression is confined to cells spanning the full thickness of the retina (A-D), consistent with the typical
morphology of Müller cells (E) at four days (4d) after TMX induction.

2. Selective disruption of Müller cells in Rlbp1-DTA mice leads to PR injury

We have further crossed Rlbp1-CreER mice with Rosa-DTA176 mice2, 3 to study the effects of selective
ablation of Müller cells on retinal neurons and vasculature. DTA is a cytotoxic protein that inhibits cellular
protein synthesis by inactivating elongation factor 24. The toxin binds to a specific receptor on the cell
surface then is internalised by receptor-mediated endocytosis, resulting in translocation of the enzymatically
active A fragment to the cytosol where it inactivates elongation factor 24. Rosa-DTA176 transgenic mice
carry an attenuated form of DTA (DTA176)3. Because mouse cells have no receptor for diphtheria toxin [4],
leak or Cre-independent expression of DTA176 is unlikely to result in bystander cell lethality even upon
possible release of active DTA176 molecules from dead Müller cells2, 3. However, following Cre
recombination after TMX induction, more than enough DTA176 is produced within Müller cells for desired
cell killing, therefore, specific Müller cell disruption is ensured2, 3.
Our preliminary results show that TMX induction led to selective ablation of Müller cells (Fig. 3F)
alternating with areas of glial activation (Fig. 3G-H, green) and PR injury (asterisks in Fig. 3H-I, arrows in
Fig. 3J) in Rlbp1-DTA176 TG mice but not in WT and Rlbp1-LacZ mice. Electron microscopy (EM)
showed disrupted PRs with broken OLM (Fig. 3K, arrows). Deep retinal vascular capillaries were dilated
but not beyond the OPL 10d after TMX induction (Fig. 3I, arrow). Analysis of dynamic cell apoptosis in the
retina indicates that PR apoptosis was likely initiated by cell death in the INL 1d after TMX induction, which
was consistent with the location of Müller cell bodies as revealed by TUNEL staining and
immunohistochemistry (IHC) for GS (Fig. 3M-N, arrows). PR apoptosis in the ONL was predominantly
observed between 3d and 7d but hardly observed at 7.5 months (7.5m) after TMX induction (O-Q).

Fig. 3. Changes in Müller cells and PRs after 5 x TMX induction. A-K, 10d after TMX induction.

Electroretinography (ERG) showed decreases in a- and b-waveforms in TG mice (Fig. 4A-D). Using a
twin flash paradigm and digital subtraction, we were able to isolate cone derived waveform from the rod
response. Both rod and cone PRs were affected in this transgenic model (Fig. 4E).
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Fig. 4. ERG changes 2m after 5 x TMX. *P<0.01, †P<0.05; TG vs, WT, n=8/group, respectively.

3. Selective Müller glial disruption leads to BRB breakdown and retinal vascular abnormalities

We have developed key techniques to detect retinal vascular changes after Müller glial disruption (Fig.5).
Fundus fluorescein angiography (FFA) shows that Rlbp1-DTA176 mice develop vascular leak as early as
10d after TMX induction which seems to be dose-dependent and progresses with time (Fig. 5B-E),
indicating that primary disruption of Müller cells can lead to retinal vascular abnormalities. Vascular
telangiectasis (Fig. 5G, arrows), altered expression of tight junction protein claudin-5 (Fig. 5K) and the
development of deep retinal neovascularisation (Fig. 5I-J, and M-N, arrows) were observed in TG but not
WT mice. Retinal vascular changes were closely associated with PR injury and the activation of retinal
microglia (resident macrophages) as revealed by flatmount staining isolection B4 (LB4) conjugated with
Alexa Flour 594 in combination with FITC-peanut agglutinin (FITC-PNA) for PRs (Fig. 5L-N) and F4/80
for microglia (Fig. 5O, arrows).

Fig. 5. Retinal vascular changes after TMX induction. F-K, 2m after 5 doses of TMX induction.

In summary, we have successfully produced an inducible transgenic model which develops dynamic
changes in retinal neuronal damage, BRB breakdown and deep retinal neovascularisation. This model will
be a useful tool for testing strategies on neuroprotection and anti-angiogenesis therapies. It will also be
useful for studying the interactions of Müller glial dysfunction with retinal neuronal injury and vascular
abnormalities.
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Study of treatment for Retinal Vein Occlusion with Bevacizumab
Dr J S Gilhotra and Dr M Dhanapala

Retinal vein occlusion represents an important cause of vision impairment from retinal vascular diseases
after diabetic retinopathy. Ischemic or hypoxic conditions of the inner retina have been associated with
capillary leak, macular oedema, and neovascularisation. Neovascularisation, which can lead to secondary
glaucoma and vitreous haemorrhage, is a major complication associated with central retinal vein occlusion.
The standard of care so far was based on laser photocoagulation of the retina: Macular treatment for oedema
from branch retinal vein occlusion, and panretinal laser photocoagulation for central retinal vein occlusion
with evidence of neovascularisations. The corresponding landmark studies, the Branch Retinal Vein
Occlusion Study (BVOS) and the Central Retinal Vein Occlusion Study (CVOS) were published almost
three and two decades ago, respectively, and have guided evidence-based treatment since. However, these
treatment patterns are now being challenged by the advent of anti-Vascular Endothelial Growth Factors
(anti-VEGFs), antibodies and their derivatives which are applied intravitreally and neutralize all isoforms of
VEGF-A and their biologically active degradation products. Anti-VEGF therapy with ranibizumab, a
humanized, affinity-matured, anti-VEGF antibody fragment, has become the standard of care for
neovascular age-related macular degeneration. Intravitreal off-label use of bevacizumab, a monoclonal
antibody initially approved for systemic use in oncology, has become popular in the treatment of diabetic
macular oedema. VEGF appears to be an important factor in the pathogenesis of the sequelae of retinal vein
occlusive disease, which makes it an interesting target for pharmacotherapeutic intervention in this area
of retinology.
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We set up two single centre, randomised controlled clinical trials to compare the use of intravitreal
bevacizumab versus the standard of care based on argon laser photocoagulation.
The first trial enrols patients with BRVOs of at least three months duration with visual acuities worse
or equal than 6/12. Subjects get randomised to three monthly intravitreal anti-VEGF treatments followed by
monthly ‘as needed’ treatment, or standard macular laser photocoagulation following the BVOS guidelines.
The length of the study is 12 months. The treatment criteria during the PRN phase are largely based on
monthly optical coherence tomography (OCT). The main outcomes are visual acuity, central retinal
thickness, as well as disease-related complications and treatment-associated adverse events.
Aiming for a total of 30 participants, 13 subjects have so far been randomised, of whom 6 have already
completed the trial and 7 are currently being treated according to the study protocol. Table 1 shows the
baseline characteristics of the enrolled participants. Table 2 summarises the interim results for the 6 subjects
who have completed the trial. Both treatments performed similarly and the current data do not reveal
statistically significant differences between the treatment modalities. On average, 6.7 intravitreal injections
of Avastin were required. Patients in the laser arm had a mean of 3.3 laser treatments. No major safety issues
have so far been identified and visual and morphological outcomes of the two approaches are comparable.
However, statistical analysis is not possible at this point in time because of the low number of participants
who have completed the trial to date.
Table 1: Baseline characteristics of study population for the BRVO part of the study.

Laser treatment (n=6)

Avastin (n=7)

Age
[years]

Mean
Median
Range

70.8
72
56-80

66.1
69
48-82

Gender

Female
Male

3
3

6
1

Best Corrected
Visual Acuity
[letters ETDRS]

Mean
Median
Range

36.8
37
3-68

52.4
56
33-63

Central Retinal
Thickness [μm]

Mean
Median
Range

457
340
186-908

492
530
207-756

Thickest Retinal
Quadrant [μm]

Mean
Median
Range

564
443
338-1024

551
547
339-877

The second trial looks at patients with central retinal vein occlusion of any age with visual acuities
worse or equal than 6/12. Participants get randomised to monthly intravitreal bevacizumab injections or
observation following the CVOS guidelines, with panretinal laser photocoagulation if clinical evidence for
new vessels becomes apparent. Likewise, the length of the study is 12 months. The outcomes are visual
acuity, central retinal thickness on OCT, neovascular complications and drug related adverse effects.
Aiming for a total of 22 participants, six patients have so far been randomised. Two subjects have
completed the study protocol whilst another person is still in the trial. Of note, three patients have dropped
out of the trial owing to investigators clinical judgement and lack of patient compliance.
Recruitment of patients has been taking longer than initially estimated. This has been for several
reasons: (1) Few referrals from practitioners outside the public system; (2) Strict study design with narrow
visual acuity inclusion criteria; and (3) Patients’ preferences for one or the other treatment and refusal to
random allocation of treatment. Nevertheless, we are aiming to complete the enrolment process within the
coming 12 months. It will then take at least another year for all participants to complete the study protocol.
The final results of the trials are to be expected in about three years.
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Table 2: Interim results for the BRVO part of the study.

Laser treatment (n=3)

Avastin (n=3)

Final Best Corrected
Visual Acuity
[letters ETDRS]

Mean
Median
Range

49.0
61
8-78

64.7
72
47-75

Letters gained
[letters ETDRS]

Mean
Median
Range

13.3
10
5-25

13.3
14
9-17

Final Central Retinal
Thickness [μm]

Mean
Median
Range

259
209
143-425

287
332
190-338

Change in Central
Retinal Thickness
[μm]

Mean
Median
Range

215
120
43-483

84
17
-39-275

Final height thickest
sub-quadrant [μm]

Mean
Median
Range

286
265
248-344

306
301
289-327

Change of
sub-quadrant
thickness [μm]

Mean
Median
Range

289
99
87-680

80
61
-71-251

Very recently, the 12 month results for the BRAVO trial (RanibizumaB for the Treatment of Macular
Edema following BRAnch Retinal Vein Occlusion) have been published1. Patients in the treatment arm
received monthly injections for the first six months, followed by six months of observation with treatment
‘as-needed’ on a monthly basis. On average, patients received about 8.5 injections of ranibizumab. The
average letter gain in the BRAVO trial was 16.4 for the 0.3mg and 18.3 for the 0.5mg group, respectively.
Importantly, mean improvement in the sham group was 12.1 letters. In summary, the letter gain from
bevacizumab in the current interim evaluation is inferior to the BRAVO results. This may be due to
differences in efficacy between agents, lower treatment frequency and a less stringent injection regimen in
our study, or other, not yet identified factors. On the other hand, to longer mean interval between treatments
could be a manifestation of the longer half life of bevacizumab compared to ranibizumab. Either way, it will
be instructive to compare the final result from the current series to the larger multi centre studies and to
determine whether our treatment protocol results in statistical superiority to the natural history at all.
The very limited number of patients who have completed the trial to date does not allow us to draw the
final conclusions just yet. However, importantly, we intend to continue till the completion of the trial.
Publication
1. Brown DM, Campochiaro PA, Bhisitkul RB, Ho AC, Gray S, Saroj N, Adamis AP, Rubio RG,
Murahashi WY. Sustained Benefits from Ranibizumab for Macular Edema Following Branch Retinal
Vein Occlusion: 12-Month Outcomes of a Phase III Study. Ophthalmology. 2011 Jun 17. [Epub ahead
of print] PubMed PMID: 21684606.
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Do patients with Vogt-Koyanagi-Harada disease (VKHD) develop specific immune
responses against uveal melanocytes?
Prof P McCluskey, Dr M Madigan, Dr R M Conway and Prof N Rau

Vogt-Koyanagi-Harada Disease (VKHD) affects the eye, skin, hearing and the central nervous system.
However, the most damaging aspect of VKHD is severe ocular inflammation (uveitis) associated with
profound potentially permanent loss of vision. There is good evidence that melanin-containing cells
(melanocytes) are targets for VKHD, but little evidence that the ocular pigment cells are specifically targeted
in this disease. We are investigating humoral and cell-mediated immune responses directed towards uveal
melanocytes and melanocyte proteins in patients with VKHD, using sera, and peripheral blood immune
cells, from patients with active and inactive (treated) VKHD patients.
We are exploring the hypothesis that human choroidal melanocytes are a target for humoral immunemediated damage in patients with VKHD by studying the following questions:
1. Does sera from VKHD patients specifically kill normal cultured human choroidal melanocytes?
2. Does sera from VKHD patients show antibodies against normal human choroidal melanocytes,
specifically, towards the melanosome-specific antigens (tyrosinase, tyrosinase-related peptide 1,
MART-1 and gp100)?
Serum was collected from patients with VKHD, sympathetic ophthalmia and healthy age-matched
controls. Human donor eyes were obtained from the Lions NSW Eye Bank. We established that human
choroidal melanocytes can be successfully isolated and grown in culture. We characterised the expression of
the melanosome-specific proteins, tyrosinase, TYRP1, MART-1 and gp100, which are all expressed by
cultured human choroidal melanocytes and human choroidal melanocytes in-situ. Tyrosinase, MART-1 and
gp100 proteins were also identified in the protein lysates of cultured melanocytes.
Cultured choroidal melanocytes and frozen sections of normal human choroid were used in the
following experiments:
1. Cultured cells were incubated in subject sera, examined for changes in morphology and cell growth
(MTT assays).
2. Indirect immunofluorescence and Western Blotting were used to examine for the expression of
melanosome-specific proteins (tyrosinase, tyrosinase-related peptide, MART-1 and gp100).
3. Indirect immunofluorescence and Western Blotting were used to examine for the presence of antibodies
in the various patient groups’ sera.
Results
Antibody binding against cultured human choroidal melanocytes was non-specific for control and patient
sera. We did not find evidence of complement-dependent cytotoxicity against choroidal melanocytes in
VKHD or control sera. Antibodies against melanocytes could not be demonstrated using Western blotting or
in choroid sections. We did find a novel 55kDa protein in sera from one VKHD patient that may be a
potential target in VKHD. We are continuing to explore this novel protein.
Conclusion
The humoral immune system may play a role in mediating choroidal melanocyte damage involved in the
pathogenesis of VKHD, but this is not due to the presence of antibodies against tyrosinase, TYRP1, MART1 and gp100.
Increased numbers of VKHD and control patients will be studied to confirm these findings, and to
investigate the role of cell-mediated immunity in the next phase of the project.
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Development of antimicrobial sutureless technology for eye surgery
Dr S Watson, A/Prof L J R Foster and Dr M Sarris

We have successfully adapted our laser-activated surgical adhesive, ‘SurgiLux’, to incorporate a series of
common antibiotics at various concentrations including: (a) amphotericin B, (b) chlorhexidine, (c)
ofloxacin, (d) tobramycin and (e) vancomycin. In all cases the physiochemical and material properties have
been investigated.
Salts of these antibiotics appear to act as nucleating agents promoting the material strength of the
chitosan-based thin films. The SurgiLux-antibiotic composites showed negligible change in their tissue
adhesion strengths which remained around 16 ± 2 kPa. SurgiLux films containing these antimicrobial agents
adsorbed significantly higher volumes of water than the SurgiLux alone which increased by 40%. In
contrast, amphotericin B and chlorhexidine adsorbed the largest volume of water, showing a 140–160%
weight increase. Water content is likely to influence tissue adhesion in vivo as well as degradation of the
bioadhesive.
While chitosan and SurgiLux films showed no inhibition against the common microbial species
Escherichia coli, Staphylococcus aureus and S. epidermidis. In contrast, a composite of chitosan adhesive
and the antibiotic vancomycin showed therapeutically significant release profiles greater that the Minimum
Bactericidal Concentrations (MBCs) for the Staphylococci over a 28 day period. These composite films had
greater crystallinity; up to 28 ± 3 compared to 8.9 ± 2 % for its unblended counterpart. Despite a significant
increase in material strength from 31.4 ± 4 to 77.5 ± 5 MPa, flexibility was still maintained with an
elongation to break around 5 ± 2 % and fold endurance of approximately 30 ± 3 folds. Laser irradiation had
no apparent effect on the release or activity of the antibiotic which survived transient temperatures at the
film-tissue interface during infra-red irradiation of around 54 ºC. There was no significant change in burst
pressure using ex-vivo bovine eyes.
Animal trials of this modified adhesive have been delayed due to a faulty laser fibre which has now been
replaced. We anticipate a preliminary test using 2 rats to begin at the end of this month with the full trial
following at the beginning of August.
Acknowledgement
Acknowledgement to this ORIA funding was made in the following journal publication:
1. Foster, LJR; Thomson, K; Marcal, H; Butt, J; Watson, S. & Wakefield, D. 2010 ‘A Chitosanvancomycin Composite Biomaterial as a Laser Activated Surgical Adhesive with Regional Antimicrobial Activity’. Biomacromolecules 11(12):3563-3570.
NB: Animal ethics for the grant was obtained on the 26th May 2010, however funds were not made available
until the 22nd November 2011. Consequently this constitutes a progress report rather than the final report.
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Identifying genes for keratoconus from a genome wide association study
Dr K P Burdon and Dr R A Mills

This project aimed to validate and replicate findings from a genome-wide association study (GWAS) conducted on pooled DNA from keratoconus patients and unaffected controls. This was successfully achieved
with the subsequent identification of the HGF gene in keratoconus. This gene is an excellent candidate. It is
involved in cellular differentiation and migration and has also been associated with refractive error.
The top ranked SNPs from the GWAS were genotyped in individual DNA samples from all 100 cases
and 216 controls that were included in the GWAS DNA pools. SNPs were considered to be validated if they
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reached a nominal p-value of 9.0x10-3 or better. Although not of genome-wide significance, this validation
threshold was chosen to allow a manageable number of candidate genes for further analysis. Of the 52 SNPs
typed in individual samples, 19 reached this validation threshold, representing 13 independent loci. Each
validated SNP was then assessed in the Rep1 cohort consisting of an additional 96 cases and 72 controls
recruited since the GWAS was conducted. The only SNP showing any level of replication in this small
cohort was rs1014091, located upstream of the HGF gene.
Genetic variation in the HGF gene was then investigated further as a candidate gene. Additional tag
SNPs in the region of the gene (rs12536657, rs2286194, rs3735520 and rs17501108) were genotyped in all
cases and controls (pooled and Rep1 samples) along with the SNPs from the array (rs7799610 and
rs1014091). Tag SNP rs17501108 is in complete linkage disequilibrium (r2=1.0) with rs1014091 typed on
the array. Both these SNPs were associated with keratoconus (Table 1) and survive Bonferonni correction
for the 6 SNPs analysed in this candidate gene study (p=0.0004 for rs1014091 and p=0.0002 for
rs17501108). In addition, rs3735520 was also associated (p=0.002).
Table 1: Association results for tag SNPs in the HGF gene in the pooled plus Rep1 samples combined. The minor allele
and its frequencies in cases and controls are shown. The Odds Ratio (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) is
expressed with respect to the risk allele. MAF = minor allele frequency. Significant p-values are highlighted bold.

snP

Alleles
maj/min

mAF controls
(n=287)

mAF cases
(n=196)

P-value

OR (95%CI)

rs7799610
rs12536657
rs2286194
rs3735520
rs17501108
rs1014091

G/A
G/A
T/A
C/T
G/T
G/A

0.078
0.227
0.167
0.413
0.144
0.147

0.072
0.195
0.204
0513
0.067
0.072

0.74
0.24
0.15
0.002
0.0002
0.0004

1.08 (0.66-1.78)
1.21 (0.88-1.68)
1.28 (0.92-1.78)
1.50 (1.15-1.94)
2.33 (1.17-3.69)
2.22 (1.41-3.48)

To further investigate this result, rs3735520 and rs17501108 were typed in a second larger replication
cohort (Rep2) consisting of 215 cases. These cases were compared for these two SNPs to publicly available
data from 112 unrelated Caucasian individuals typed as part of the International HapMap Project for these
two SNPs. Positive association of SNP rs17501108 was replicated in this independent cohort of Caucasian
individuals (Table 2). To gain further confidence in these results, we sought collaboration with a large group
from the US undertaking similar studies. Their work also showed association of SNPs near HGF with
keratoconus in their first cohort US1 (Table 2). No significant association (p<0.05) was observed in the US2
replication cohort, however the odds ratios are in the same direction with that observed in the other cohorts.
Meta-analysis of HGF SNPs in all cohorts suggested that SNP rs3735520 is associated with keratoconus
with genome-wide suggestive p-value of 9.9x10-7. A less significant p- value of 9.9x10-5 was calculated for
SNP rs17501108/rs1014091.
Table 2: Results of association testing of HGF SNPs in multiple cohorts. The minor allele frequency in cases and controls
are shown. The Odds Ratio (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (95%CI) are also shown, expressed with respect to the
risk allele defined in the pooled samples. MAF = minor allele frequency.

rs3735520

rs17501108/rs1014091*

Cohort

MAF
controls

MAF
cases

p-value

OR (95%CI)

MAF
controls

Rep2
US1
US2

0.43
0.45
0.46

0.45
0.57
0.47

0.664
1.08(0.76-1.51) 0.17
6.1x10-7 1.63 (1.35-1.98) 0.11
0.655
1.05 (0.86-1.28) 0.11

MAF
cases

p-value

OR (95%CI)

0.10
0.07
0.10

0.006
0.018
0.658

1.93(1.20-3.10)
1.56(1.07-2.24)
1.08(0.77-1.50)

* As rs17501108 and rs1014091 are in almost complete LD, the results for rs17501108 are presented for Rep2 and rs1014091
for US1 and US2 due to different genotyping strategies in the two cohorts.
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To assess the effect of SNP rs3735520 on HGF levels, serum HGF concentration meeting quality control
standards was obtained from 84 control participants (serum was not available from keratoconus patients).
Under a non-parametric Kruskall-Wallace test there was a significant trend for increased serum HGF
concentration with each T allele of the SNP (Table 4, p=0.036). The minor T allele is also the risk allele for
keratoconus. This association was also significant under both dominant and recessive genetic models. A
similar relationship was found with the risk G allele of rs17501108 although this did not reach statistical
significance (data not shown).
Table 3: Mean serum HGF concentration by genotype of rs3735520 and mean rank for nonparametric tests under
genotypic, dominant and recessive models. SE=standard error of the mean

Genotype

n

mean serum HGF
± sE

mean rank
by genotype1

mean rank
dominant2

mean rank
recessive3

CC
TC
TT

32
39
12

486.8±39.0
527.5±28.7
632.0±68.4

33.35
41.36 )
53.08 )

33.35

37.66

44.29

)
)

53.08

1 Kruskal-Wallace test p-value = 0.036, 2 Mann-Whitney U test p-value = 0.039, 3 Mann-Whitney U test pvalue = 0.032
Our collaborators in Northern Ireland have also been able to show a significant increase in HGF mRNA
expression in cells from keratoconic corneas compared with cells from normal corneas.
Taken together, these data indicate a role for HGF in keratoconus. Future work of ours and our
collaborators will explore the mechanism for this association. This work has been submitted for publication.

ORIA/Renensson Bequest Grant

Identification of a novel gene for Nanophthalmos in a large Australian pedigree
A/Prof J E Craig and Dr K J Laurie

This project has progressed well and all data has been collected, although due to maternity leave taken by
Kate Laurie in 2010, the analysis has not been completed. Work is continuing on the data to finalise the
outcomes.
Prior to the start of this grant we had identified an extended pedigree with autosomal dominant
Nanophthalmos and localised the causative gene to a novel locus on chromosome 17. Subsequently, we
identified a further branch of the family, resident in the UK and had recruited them into the study.
Aim 1 of the project was to expand the linkage study in an attempt to further refine the linked region. This
was conducted by the typing of the additional 13 UK-based family members on the same SNP array as used
for the 16 members of the Australian branch (Affymetrix 10K SNP array). Linkage was identified on
chromsome 17 in the extended family, consistent with the result in the Australian branch. A LOD score of
3.9 was obtained, indicating genome-wide significance for this localisation. The inclusion of the UK branch
refined the region to ~9.5Mb through a recombination observed in patient 1.32. This reduced the linked
region by ~5Mb from that seen in the Australian branch alone.
Aim 2 of the project was to sequence all the linked genes in the proband to identify the causative mutation.
Genomic DNA from the proband (patient 1.05) was enriched for all exons in the linked region through
hybridisation to a custom Agilent SureSelect capture array. The resulting DNA still contains the full genome,
but has a higher representation of the targetted region, to allow sufficent coverage of sequencing. For
efficiency, the enriched sample was sequenced, multiplexed with other samples from different projects
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(funded elsewhere). Thus a barcode was applied to the smaple during library preparation. The sample was
sequenced in a single lane of an Illumina GAII sequencer and data for the nanophthalmos patient retrieved
from the mixture of patients by the use of the sequence barcode.
In total, 4,952,785 reads of 65 base pair length were obtained. Only a proportion of these map to the
target region. A minimum of 10x coverage was obtained at each exon in the target region. Data is currently
undergoing further cleaning and alignment to the current build of the human genome to identify both
reported polymorphism and potentially novel protein coding variants. A preliminary analysis identified a
total of 541 variants in the linked region and those that cause putative protein coding variants are being
further investigated.

Figure 1: Haplotypes on chromosome 17 in
extended nanophthalmos pedigree. The
haplotype segregating with disease is
coloured black. All confirmed cases share a
haplotype on chromosome 17 between
SNPs rs1373147 and rs1431991

ORIA New Investigator/Eye Foundation Grant

Auditory processing in glaucoma
Ms F O’Hare

Background and aims
Glaucoma pathogenesis is believed to be multifactorial. It is hypothesized that in certain individuals their
optic nerves are more vulnerable to damage and the risk of developing the condition may depend upon
innate differences in the global response of the central nervous system (CNS) to pathogenic factors. In light
of this underlying hypothesis, preliminary research from our group identified a mild deficit in auditory
temporal processing ability (a sign of auditory neuropathy) in individuals with open angle glaucoma (OAG)
from a comprehensive range of auditory function tests. Thus, the purpose of the current project was to
confirm this finding and tease out the nature and extent of the auditory neuropathy signs on more specific
temporal processing tasks. A secondary aim of the study was to investigate similar hierarchical temporal
processing function in the visual system within the same group of individuals and consider the importance
of these results in terms of understanding the impact of glaucoma in regions outside the visual pathways.
Specific aims of the study were to:
1. To determine whether OAG patients with auditory temporal processing ability also have abnormalities
in visual temporal processing ability.
2. To determine whether functional loss is generalized across temporal tasks or specific for subsets of
temporal information in each sensory system.
Key findings
This grant allowed in depth investigation of auditory processing ability in a cross sectional sample of 25
OAG individuals compared to 25 age and gender-matched controls (median age 61 years in both groups;
28% male in both groups). Specifically, levels of temporal processing ability was examined which focused
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on how well sensory neurons capture information regarding the change of sensory stimulation over time.
Aim 1: Investigation of auditory temporal processing ability in study samples identified significantly poorer
speech perception under competing noise in OAG participants compared to controls. As shown in Figure 1,
the average speech perception score was near 6% less in the glaucoma group compared to the control group.

Figure 1: Individual raw scores for right ears with overlying mean
(middle bar) and standard deviations (upper and lower bars) for speech
perception in groups; glaucoma 38.54% ± 9.28% versus controls 44.97%
± 8.52%; p = 0.031, adjusted for age and average hearing level.

Aim 2: Coding and analysing the temporal components of both auditory and visual stimulation are
considered examples of complex neural processing function. As such, it is likely that signs of ‘weak’ nerves
within the CNS may manifest on tasks that selectively ‘tax’ or stress nerve function such as those that require
a high degree of temporal precision. These tasks rely upon a high degree of cellular metabolism to support
their complex execution. Supporting this, evidence of specific temporal processing dysfunction was
identified for low frequency discrimination in both auditory and visual systems in OAG participants
compared to controls. Specifically, a larger effect size or magnitude of a difference in group performance for
auditory discrimination of low frequencies was identified compared to high frequencies. The ability of
auditory neurons to transmit temporal information is restricted to frequencies less than 4000 hertz therefore
finding that the OAG group have poorer discrimination around 500 hertz suggests selective impairment in
fine temporal processing. A significant and moderate correlation was identified between speech perception
scores and fine frequency discrimination in OAG participants (see Figure 2).

Figure 2: Correlation between fine frequency discrimination (Y axis)
and speech perception score (X axis) for the glaucoma group;
correlation coefficient -0.554, p = 0.007. Right ear data.

Within the visual system, specific signs of temporal processing dysfunction were identified on tasks
exploring speed discrimination and global coherent motion detection. Figure 3 highlights that on average,
OAG individuals have impaired speed discrimination for slow moving velocities compared with controls.
Discriminatory performance for fast velocities, where spectral and contrast cues are available, was
equivalent between groups.
Figure 3: Individual raw scores for right ears with overlying mean
(middle interval bar) and standard deviations (upper and lower bars)
for speed discrimination ability for each group, reference speed 2 deg/s;
glaucoma 0.58 ± 0.21 versus control 0.45 ± 0.09; p = 0.009, adjusted for
age and central acuity.

Coherent global motion detection requires the integration of temporal and motion information and
involves ‘higher order’ central neural processing. A mild but significant difference in global motion ability
was observed between groups, accounting for a 5% drop in median scores in the glaucoma group.
The clinical implications of these findings include recommending OAG individuals who report hearing
difficulty, especially within noisy environments, to undergo tests that examine central processing function
in addition to standard audiogram assessment. Signs of central auditory processing dysfunction may be
missed if specific tests are not performed to detect auditory neuropathy. With regard to visual findings, OAG
individuals with impaired speed and motion discrimination may require interventional strategies to improve
driving/pedestrian safety and navigation, an area for future research.
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In summary, ORIA funding allowed us to explore and identify signs of auditory neuropathy in patients
with OAG for the first time. We have been able to show novel findings of specific temporal processing
impairment in both visual and auditory systems in a significant proportion of patients with OAG. Findings
support a neuronal susceptibility for both and confirm the existence of changes occurring outside the visual
pathways in glaucoma. We hope that with publication of the results we can prepare further applications for
funding to further explore other auditory functions in glaucoma patients and investigate how having both
auditory and visual impairment impacts upon communication and quality of life.
Publications
Rance G, O’Hare F, Crowston JG, Trounce I, Starr A & O’Leary S. Auditory processing deficits in
individuals with primary open angle glaucoma – evidence for a systemic neuronal susceptibility outside
the visual pathways (submitted – under review).
O’Hare F, McKendrick AMM, Rance G, Crowston JG. Is open angle glaucoma a multisensory
neurodegenerative condition? Review (in final preparation).
O’Hare F, McKendrick AMM, Rance G, Crowston JG. Temporal processing in auditory and visual systems
– evidence of wider CNS involvement in glaucoma (in preparation).

ORIA New Investigator/Eye Foundation Grant

Does the level of systemic inflammation in people with age-related macular
degeneration influence outcomes to anti-VEGF treatment?
Dr L Lim

Background and aims
Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is the major cause of irreversible blindness in those over the age
of 60 years in both Australia and the United States. Despite new advances in the treatment of neovascular
AMD with the advent of anti-VEGF (Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor) agents, approximately 10–15%
of patients do not respond to this treatment and experience worse vision three months after treatment
commencement.
To date, there is no way to predict whose visual acuity will improve, whose will remain stable or whose
will continue to decrease with anti-VEGF treatment in the clinical setting. In addition, as injections of these
treatments into the eye also have inherent risks, both ocular and systemically, limiting the number of
injections would be desirable if the same visual acuity result could be achieved. As AMD has now been
postulated to be the result of a chronic inflammatory process, several studies have investigated the
relationship between systemic markers of inflammation and AMD. Our aim is to investigate whether
inflammatory markers in the serum may be used as predictors of outcome to these new anti-VEGF
treatments.
Aim of study
To investigate whether raised levels of systemic markers of inflammation [C-Reactive Protein (CRP),
Interleukin 6 (IL6), Interleukin 1 (IL1), Tumour Necrosis Factor α (TNFα), soluble intercellular adhesion
molecule 1 (s-ICAM1), total leukocyte count (WCC) and C3A des Arg] are associated with an increased risk
of a poor response to anti-VEGF treatment in those with neovascular AMD.
Results
Over the past 12 months, baseline blood samples have been collected and stored on 110 patients with
newly diagnosed neovascular AMD from the Royal Victorian Eye and Ear Hospital. Of these 110
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subjects, 18 have had further samples collected at three months (just prior to their fourth ranibizumab
injection).
In a pilot study on 69 subjects, baseline samples were analysed with a multiplex cytokine microarray
after a 1:4 dilution in a test volume of 40 μl for cytokine and chemokine levels using the Bio-Plex human
cytokine 27-plex panel (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer’s
instructions. Cytokines analysed were: CRP, IL-1b, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, s-ICAM1, MCP-1, MIP-1α,
MIP-1β and TNF-α. The assay was read on a Bio-Plex 200 instrument and analyzed using Bio-Plex
Manager V5.0 software (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA).
CRP was measured using a Beckman Coulter Synchron LX system Chemistry Analyser by Southern
Cross Pathology Services, Monash Medical Centre, Clayton.
Participants were categorised as ‘responders’ (stable or improved vision) or ‘non-responders’ (any loss
of vision) after 3 x monthly injections of ranibizumab treatment. Using this definition, 11 subjects (15.9%)
were found to be non-responders, and this is in line with the findings from the MARINA and ANCHOR
studies. Using a logistic regression analysis taking into account age, gender and smoking status, possible
differences in baseline inflammatory biomarker levels were determined between responders and nonresponders.
In this small pilot study, we obtained data on 16 inflammatory biomarkers at baseline: CRP, IL-1b,
IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-12(p70), Eotaxin, Interferon-inducible protein-10 (IP-10), MCP-1,
Macrophage Inflammatory Protein(MIP)-1α, MIP-1β, Chemokine ligand 5 (CCL5), and TNF-α. The effect
of the level of a particular cytokine on the probability of a subject being a non-responder ranged from a slight
increase (0.3% with IL-1) to a very large decrease (-300% with IL-5). An example of some of these effects
are shown in Table 1.
Table 1. Results from a logistic regression analysis of baseline cytokine levels in responders vs. non‐responders with
neovascular AMD (CNV)

Cytokine/Biomarker

Odds Ratio

p-value

CRP
IL-1b
IL-4
IL-5
IL-6
MCP-1
MIP-1α

0.766
1.003
0.917
0.308
0.936
0.981
0.720

0.287
0.923
0.621
0.193
0.492
0.827
0.338

95% CI
0.469
0.947
0.650
0.052
0.775
0.823
0.368

1.251
1.062
1.294
1.817
1.130
1.168
1.410

Although these results are very preliminary, with only a limited sample, they highlight our ability to
detect these cytokines in our patient’s serum, and show a trend that we are likely to detect a significant
difference between the two treatment response groups with a larger study sample. This is strengthened by
the findings that intraocular levels of cytokines such as MCP-1 are higher in those with active neovascular
AMD. Recently we have also been able to detect different levels of MCP-1 in the urine of patients with
AMD compared to controls, again verifying that systemic levels of these markers are measurable and do
appear different in AMD compared to control subjects.
Overall, this ORIA funded pilot study supports the possibility that some of these cytokines might be able
to be used as predictors of AMD treatment outcome. As a result, this exciting finding was used as the basis
for an NH&MRC project grant submission in 2011. It is hoped that with further work in a larger cohort, we
will be able to identify subgroups of neovascular AMD patients who will respond well, or conversely, fail
to respond, to ranibizumab therapy prior to even commencing treatment.
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ORIA Grant

Do the allele frequencies of AMD-related genes differ due to survival bias as the
population ages?
Dr L D Robman

Genetic risks for age-related macular degeneration (AMD) have largely been determined. However, by the
age when AMD manifests, in elderly, selective survival from life-threatening diseases may distort the risk
factor associations with AMD. This phenomenon could not only affect the strength, but even the directions
of associations, converting harmful associations into protective, and protective into harmful. We
hypothesised that the genetic risk profile for AMD is different in different age groups; survival bias alters
the genetic profile of the elderly; it modifies the level of genetic predispositions that could be detected at
early stages of an age-related disease.
For a cost-efficient genetic risk factor analyses stratified by age, we selected the cases of early or late
AMD and controls with no features of AMD, matched by age, sex and ethnicity, from the total of more than
21 thousand participants of the Melbourne Collaborative Cohort Study (MCCS), aged 50 to 80 years old.
Using the ORIA-2010 funds, we finalised genotyping of DNA from the 1,600 younger participants,
determining the status of 17 SNPs from various AMD-related genes. These data are collated with that from
the previously genotyped 3,600 DNA samples of the elderly. The first results were presented at ARVO-2011
and further analysis is ongoing.
This funding has helped to conduct a large program of work on AMD in MCCS that has also been
supported by ORIA in previous years. Together, ORIA support has contributed to the five papers published
in high impact journals and also the 19 presentations at national and International levels that demonstrated
the results from this study.
The first direct grant outcome:

ARVO-2011 presentation and also a submitted paper: APOE Gene-Environment Interaction In AMD Risk.
MK Adams, LD Robman, JA Simpson, RH Guymer, KZ Aung, GA Makeyeva, PN Baird.
Purpose
To explore APOE e2, e3 and e4 allele frequencies and their association with AMD risk in a large agematched case control study in Australia, and assess if associations are modified by environmental factors
including age, sex and smoking.
Methods
4616 participants (2308 cases of early or late AMD and 2308 controls individually matched on sex, age and
country of birth) were selected from the Melbourne Collaborative Cohort Study of 22287 participants.
Fundus photographs were graded for AMD. APOE allele status was determined and genotypes were grouped
into e3e3 (reference group), e2e2 e2e3 e2e4, and e4e4 e3e4. Estimates of the odds ratios (OR) were
determined using conditional logistic regression.
Results
We confirmed that APOE is an AMD risk gene, with the e2 risk allele strongly associated with disease. The
associations were dependent on sex, age and smoking status. In men, age modified the association (P-value
for interaction 0.03) with no association seen with the e2 allele below the median age of 72 (OR 1.11 95%CI
0.75-1.64 P=0.6) but in those above age 72, those with one or more e2 alleles were twice as likely to have
AMD (2.01 95%CI 1.33-3.03 P<0.001). Significant effect modification in men was observed for smoking
(P=0.04) where the direction of effect of e4 was positive in non smokers and negative in former smokers.
For women with one or more e2 alleles a 25% increase risk of AMD was observed, independent of age, (OR
1.25 95%CI 1.01-1.56 P=0.04) whereas the e4 allele had a borderline significant protective association (OR
0.82 95%CI 0.68-1.0 P=0.06).
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Conclusions
This is the first single study to be sufficiently powered to explore gene-environment interactions in APOE
and AMD. We have demonstrated significant effect modification by age and smoking on the effect of APOE,
which may explain contradictory results found in previous studies that did not stratify on these variables.
Relevant presentations

Adams M, Robman L, Aung KZ, Makeyeva G, Guymer R, Baird P. Changing genetic associations with ageApo E and age-related macular degeneration. RANZCO-2010.
Robman LD, Adams MK, Simpson JA, Aung KZ, Makeyeva GA, Giles GG, English DR, Baird PN, Guymer
RH. Is AMD equally prevalent in Australians of Southern-European and Angio-celtic origin? ARVO2010.
Adams MK, Robman L, Simpson JA, Aung KZ, Makeyeva GA, Giles GG, English DR, Guymer RH.
Abdominal obesity – not BMI – increases risk of late AMD in Men. ARVO-2010.
Publications

Adams MK, Simpson JA, Aung KZ, Makeyeva GA, Giles GG, English DR, Hopper J, Guymer RH, Baird
PN, Robman LD. Abdominal Obesity and Age-related Macular Degeneration. Am J Epidemiology 2011.
Advanced Medical Science studies

Dr Elaine Chong, who is now a trainee successfully completed her PhD study based on this study. She will
become a clinician with a strong education in Ophthalmic Epidemiology, necessary for the current
leaders in Health Research.
Dr Madeleine Adams, our PhD student and practising medical doctor in the Royal Victorian Eye and Ear
Hospital, is in her third year of PhD study. She is also applying for a training position.
Collaborations

The data from this study, which was funded by ORIA, have attracted attention of collaborators
internationally, resulting in a NIH-2011 research grant application for a pooled dietary and genetic study on
AMD that will collate our data with two other studies in the USA.

ORIA New Investigator Grant

The role of DNA Copy Number Variations in the development of myopia
Dr Maria Schache

Background
Myopia is a common condition affecting 16–26% of the population in Westernised countries such as
Australia, USA and Europe. The development of myopia is a complex process influenced by both genetic
and environmental factors. The primary focus of this study was the genetic causes of myopia. Prior to this
work many genetic studies had been undertaken into myopia but no gene had been pinpointed. These studies
focused on single genetic variations (SNPs) and used association analysis to determine a link between
myopia and various genes. Even after combining this data, the genetic causes of myopia remain unclear.
It has recently become apparent that Copy Number Variations (CNVs) are also important genetic
contributors to disease. CNVs are defined as a segment of DNA that is present in variable copy number in
the genome. They include deletions, insertions and other complex rearrangements of segments of DNA. The
contribution of CNVs to myopia is an unexplored area. Hence, this study aimed to assess the role of CNVs
in the development of myopia.
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Aims
Overall aim

To investigate the role of Copy Number Variations in the development of myopia.
Specific aims

1. To identify Copy Number Variations associated with myopia in the previously mapped myopia locus on
chromosome 2q37.
2. To replicate putative myopia Copy Number Variations in an extended cohort.
Study group
Individuals were recruited in Melbourne between 2004 and 2009 as part of the Genes in Myopia (GEM)
study. A total of 916 individuals from 290 different families have been recruited, as well as 345 monozygotic
and 267 dizygotic twins. For the current study the three largest GEM Study families were utilised. These
families consisted of 37 individuals with myopia (average SphE -2.76D) and 14 without myopia.
Results
A genome-wide linkage study was performed on the three GEM families described above. This resulted in
the identification of a putative myopia locus on chromosome 2q37. This locus is 2.4 cM distal to the known
myopia locus MYP12 and spans 1.83 cM between markers D2S2968 and D2S1391. We have previously
undertaken sequence analysis on the known gene in this region as well as an association study using 151
SNPs spanning the region. Both those studies failed to identify a causative gene or gene variant in this
region.
We are now undertaking a more comprehensive analysis on the chromosome 2q37 linkage region that
includes both CNV analysis and DNA sequence analysis of the entire region. To achieve this, we have taken
advantage of the latest DNA sequencing technology, namely Next Generation DNA Sequencing (NGS).
Data generation for the NGS analysis has been undertaken at the Australian Genome Research Facility
using the Illumina GAII system. We have supplied the AGRF with DNA from ten individuals from the GEM
Study families and in return the AGRF has generated raw sequence data. Due to the large volume of data,
analysis is currently ongoing. Our analysis is encompassing both CNVs and DNA sequence variant analysis
in the chromosome 2q37 region. Once we have identified potential CNVs and DNA sequence variants that
may be associated with myopia, they will then be further analysed in the remaining GEM Study family
members to confirm their role in myopia. This is an exciting study as it is the most comprehensive study into
a myopia linkage region to date. We are very excited by this work and look forward to completing our
analysis.
Publications and grants
Data analysis is ongoing. It is anticipated that this will be compete in the next 12–18 months, after which a
number of publications will be compiled. We also plan to submit a grant proposal to the NH&MRC to
expand this work and perform functional studies on the genes that are discovered to identify how they cause
myopia.

ORIA/RANZCO Eye Foundation Grant

The heritability of optic disc shape
Dr P Sanfilippo and Prof D Mackey

Background and aims
Assessment of optic disc morphology is essential in the diagnosis and management of ophthalmic disorders
that involve the optic nerve, including glaucoma. While much work has been conducted to examine factors
affecting differences in optic disc size, there is a paucity of data considering variation in the shape of the
optic disc. Additionally, studies that have measured optic disc shape have done so in terms of linear metrics
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and ratios, incompletely accounting for variation in this trait (see Reprint Publication 4).
We set out to investigate whether the application of geometric morphometric (GMM) techniques in the
quantification of optic disc morphology enable a more comprehensive assessment of shape variation than
the traditional methods employed. We have subsequently utilized data from a large twin study and are
currently analyzing the concordance of optic disc shape in identical (MZ) and non-identical (DZ) twins in
order to determine the role of genetic factors (ie heritability) in this parameter.
Specific aims of this study

1. Measure optic disc shape in 1,000 twin pairs.
2. Determine the heritability of optic disc shape by comparing the correlation of optic disc shape between
MZ and DZ twins.
3. Determine the genetic loci associated with optic disc shape.
Results
Prior to measuring optic disc shape in our large twin cohort it was necessary to determine an optimal method
for the quantification of this morphological parameter. We thus formulated and conducted a ‘validation’
study (see Reprint Publication 3) whereby we employed discriminant function analysis to compare the
efficacy of a series of the traditional shape measures in addition to several GMM techniques for correctly
classifying normal and glaucomatous optic cups based on shape information alone. The construction of
Receiver Operator Characteristic curves for each technique showed that the traditional shape measures
performed reasonably well in discriminating optic cup shape (Area Under the Curve – AUC = 0.86),
however a GMM method proved most effective in correctly classifying cups as normal or glaucomatous
(AUC – 0.91). This GMM technique was then selected to measure the shape of the optic disc for all subjects
in the study.
We are currently analyzing the concordance of optic cup/disc shape in our cohort. Shape information
may be decomposed into a numerical quantity following a Principal Components Analysis (PCA) of the
original shape data (see Reprint Publication 4). Figure 1 illustrates the graphical output of a PCA for a
sample of optic cup shape data.
Preliminary analyses suggest the intra-twin pair correlation for shape is greater amongst MZ than DZ
twins (Figure 2), thus implying that both aspects of disc morphology are heritable. More complex structural
equation modelling will quantify this heritable component more accurately.

CUP

DISC

Figure 1: Primary modes (principal
components) of shape variation
for a sample of optic cups.

Figure 2: Within pair twin correlations for optic cup and disc shape.
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In summary, being able to quantify shape variation of the optic cup and disc will provide a greater
understanding of the genetic factors underlying glaucoma and also the potential for improvements in
diagnostic algorithms used in computerized instrumentation (eg HRT, OCT) for the early diagnosis and
monitoring of the disease.
Publications
1. Sanfilippo PG, Medland SE, Hewitt AW et al. Ophthalmic Phenotypes and the Representativeness of
Twin Data for the General Population. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci. 2011 (in press).
2. Sanfilippo PG, Hewitt AW, Hammond CJ, Mackey DA. The heritability of ocular traits. Surv
Ophthalmol. 2010;55:561–583.
3. Sanfilippo PG, Cardini A, Sigal IA et al. A geometric morphometric assessment of the optic cup in
glaucoma. Exp Eye Res. 2010;91:405–414.
4. Sanfilippo PG, Cardini A, Hewitt AW, Crowston JG, Mackey DA. Optic disc morphology – Rethinking
shape. Prog Retin Eye Res. 2009;28:227–248.

ORIA/Brenda A Mitchell Bequest Grant

Complement proteins and photoreceptor death in light-induced retinal
degeneration
Dr K Valter-Kocsi, Dr J G Wong, Prof J M Provis and Dr M C Madigan

Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is a multifactorial disease that is the leading cause of blindness in
the Western World in those over 60 years of age. Smoking, obesity, high cholesterol and other life-style
factors have been shown to be associated with increased incidence of the disease. More recently, genetic and
morphological studies suggested that activation and compromised regulation of the complement pathway of
the immune system play an important role in the development and progression of AMD. It remains unclear
as to what initiates these immune processes in the retina. This study aimed to establish whether
photoreceptor death itself could be the event that triggers activation of these retinal immune responses, and
how this is regulated, once initiated.
We used a light-induced rat model of retinal degeneration to assess the relationship between
photoreceptor cell death and the activation of immune responses. Our studies found that the light-induced
model of retinal degeneration bears many similarities with the ʻdryʼ (atrophic) AMD, the most common and
insidious form of the disease.
The most severe and irreversible lesion with light damage aligned with the visual axis in an area of the
rat retina that can be considered a functional equivalent of the human macula. The morphological changes
were most prominent in the photoreceptor layer, RPE and Bruchʼs membrane and resembled the
histopathology seen in dry AMD. The primary lesion, caused by the acute bright light exposure, initiated
further damage long after the stress was removed causing wide-spread cell loss in the retina. This
progressive nature of the model also was common with AMD.
We observed the activation and invasion of microglia in the area of the primary lesion. These cells
remove damaged cells, but may themselves cause further tissue damage. The presence of activated microglia
and invasion of choroidal macrophages has been previously reported in AMD.1
In recently published work, we analysed the differential gene expression in normal and bright lightexposed retinae and found clusters of genes that showed significant increase in their expression levels.
Among others, stress response and immune response genes families were identified.2
In the group of immune response genes, one particular gene, Ccl2, showed a very strong upregulation.
The chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 2 (Ccl2) is a strong chemoattractant to monocytes (also known as the
monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1)). In our model, the area of most severe damage showed the
presence of activated microglia and invasion of monocytes, and as such, this gene became the focus of our
attention.
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Quantitative PCR analysis revealed a strong correlation between cell death and the upregulation of Ccl2,
with increased gene expression as early as 12 hours after light exposure, just shortly after significant
photoreceptor damage and loss was initiated.
Immunhistochemical studies showed that in the early stages, Müller cells located around the area of the
most severe damage showed MCP-1 (ccl2) immunoreactivity, suggesting that they are responsible for the
targeting of activated microglia and monocyte invasion specifically to this area. In the later stages, recruited
monocytes also became immunreactive to the protein, signifying the development of a self-perpetuating
event. The presence of activated macrophages has been associated with the progression and severity of AMD
and thus it is an important aspect of the disease mechanism.3
As noted above, the complement system has been implicated in AMD, and polymorphisms found on
complement component and regulatory genes increase susceptibility to AMD in humans. Proteins of the
complement system are also found in drusen, a characteristic feature of the disease. Further analysis of our
genechip data identified 17 complement-related genes that showed differential expression following bright
light-exposure. Among these were complement components of the classical (C1s, C2, C4), alternative (C3)
and lectin (Ficolin B) pathways, complement receptors (CR3, CR4, C3aR1, C1qR1) as well as a number of
complement regulators (CD55, CD46, SERPING1)
Spatiotemporal analysis revealed a close correlation between photoreceptor cell death and complement
activation. Both complement components and regulators showed significant upregulation following largescale photoreceptor loss and reached their peak in the post-exposure period, when apoptosis of cells showed
a decrease. The persistent high expression of complement suggests they play a role in the progression of the
retinal degeneration.
Immunohistochemical and in situ hybridization work demonstrated that complement was expressed in
cells present in the retinal and choroidal vasculature around the area with the most severe damage and that
these cells were also immunoreactive for monocyte and macrophage markers (ED-1, IBA-1).4
Taken together, these studies provide a better understanding of the sequence of events during the
progression of retinal degeneration. These may be similar across several different types of retinal disease,
the common element being photoreceptor loss. It seems that exposure to bright light causes photoreceptor
damage and loss in the central area of vision, that initiates the up-regulation of a chemo-attractant molecule
(Ccl2) in the Müller cells, and signals to microglia cells in the surrounding tissue. This leads to the activation
and recruitment of monocytes/microglial cells from the surrounding vessels into the damaged area. Once the
barrier protecting the retina is damaged, it allows the largescale invasion of monocytes/microglial cells from
the choroidal vasculature, into the retina. These cells, apart from cleaning up the debris in the tissue, also
produce complement proteins as well as a chemo-attractant, to recruit even more monocytes/microglial cells.
This might be responsible for the close temporal relationship of the up-regulation of complement expression
with photoreceptor cell death observed in this model.
Publications
1. Findings of this study were published in Rutar M, Provis J, Valter K: Brief exposure to damaging light
causes focal recruitment of macrophages and long-term destabilization of photoreceptors in the albino
rat retina. Curr Eye Res 2010.
2. Natoli R, Zhu Y, Valter K, et al.: Gene and noncoding RNA regulation underlying photoreceptor
protection: microarray study of dietary antioxidant saffron and photobiomodulation in rat retina. Mol Vis
2010.
3. This part of the work has been recently published in Rutar M, Natoli R, Valter K, Provis J.: Early focal
expression of the chemokine ccl2 by Müller cells during exposure to damageinducing bright continuous
light. IOVS 2011.
4. These findings have been published in Rutar M, Natoli R, Kozulin P, Valter K, et al.: Analysis of
complement expression in light-induced retinal degeneration: synthesis and deposition of C3 by
microglia/macrophages is associated with focal photoreceptor degeneration. IOVS 2011.
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ORIA/Esme Anderson Grant

Does genetic make up influence outcome of treatment in patients with ‘wet’ age
related macular degeneration?
Dr S Wickremasinghe and Prof R Guymer

Background and aims
Age-related macular degeneration (AMD) is a potentially blinding condition. Low-grade chronic
inflammation within the eye and subsequent over-expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)
are thought to play a role in its cause. Several genes that influence the inflammatory response have been
shown to be associated with increased risk in the development of AMD and may influence the outcome to
treatment.
This study will examine the association between polymorphisms of several genes and treatment
response in individuals with neovascular AMD.
The specific aims of this study were:
1. To assess the association between variants of genes (CFH, CFHR1/3, BF/C2, C3, LOC387715/HTRA1,
APOE and VEGF) that have previously been linked with the development of AMD and the outcome of
treatment with anti-VEGF agents, in patients with neovascular AMD.
2. To determine whether patient characteristics such as age, gender, smoking status and delay in seeking
treatment influence treatment outcome.
Aim 1

APOE gene: In 172 patients undergoing anti-VEGF treatment for neovascular AMD, after controlling for
covariates, we found a significant association between the ε4 variant APOE gene and improved outcome
following anti-VEGF treatment, compared to those with the ε3 or ε2 variants at 3 months (odds ratio 4.04,
confidence interval 1.11, 14.70, p=0.03) and 12 months (odds ratio 2.54, p=0.20). This finding has biological
plausibility with eyes of transgenic mice that express the APOE ε2 allele showing over expression of VEGF
by the retinal pigment epithelium. The APOE ε2 risk allele may up-regulate angiogenic cytokines and
influence CNV formation, leading to an increased amount of VEGF in the retina of these patients. The
results of this study were published in Investigative Ophthalmology and Vision Science (2011, Epub Jan 18).
Characteristics

Age (years)
Gender
Male
Female
Baseline logMAR VA*
APOE allele
!2
!3
!4

3 months outcome
n=166

6 months outcome
n= 168

12 months outcome
n=149

OR (95% CI)

p

OR (95% CI)

P

OR (95% CI)

0.96 (0.91, 1.01)

0.18

0.94 (0.89, 0.99)

0.03

1
0.62 (0.30, 1.28)
2.80 (1.31, 6.04)

0.20

0.16

0.001

1
0.60 (0.30, 1.22)
4.18 (1.87, 9.33)

1
0.44
0.73 (0.33, 1.61)
0.001 4.88 (1.89, 12.58) 0.001

1
2.27 (0.77, 6.69)
4.04 (1.11, 14.70)

0.14
0.03

1
4.32 (1.24, 15.06)
3.26 (0.76, 13.90)

0.02
0.11

0.94 (0.88, 0.99)

P
0.04

1
1.93 (0.61, 6.11) 0.26
2.54 (0.61, 10.52) 0.20

CFH, C3, LOC387715 and HTRA1 genes: We collected data in two separate cohorts, one in Melbourne
(198 eyes of 192 patients) and a second cohort in Iowa, USA (148 eyes of 138 patients). In these two
populations, we found no significant association between variants of the genes studied and response to
treatment, after controlling for covariates such as age, gender, baseline vision and number of injections
given.
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Aim 2

In the process of collecting patients with neovascular AMD, we also assessed other baseline covariates that
could influence outcome of vision at 12 months. We assessed factors such as baseline vision, age and gender
of patients and the number of treatments given over the 12-month period. We found that baseline vision
(p=0.002) and delay in treatment from first symptoms (p=0.015) were significantly associated with visual
outcome. Baseline vision has previously been identified as a predictor of treatment outcome, such that eyes
with poorer vision at treatment initiation are more likely to improve than eyes with good vision (ceiling
effect). Similarly eyes with poor vision are less likely to deteriorate than eyes with good vision (floor effect).

Figure 1: Graph showing the predicted
probability for change in vision at six months
with respect to
delay from first symptoms to treatment.
pr; probability, VA; visual acuity, CNV;
choroidal neovascularization, anti-VEGF;
anti vascular
endothelial growth factor, Improved; ≥
two lines of improvement in acuity
compared to baseline,
Stable; within two lines of baseline,
Worse; ≤ two lines of baseline visual
acuity.

With respect to delay in presentation, longer treatment delay from first symptoms of CNV was a highly
significant predictor (p=0.015) of adverse outcome after adjusting for age, gender and baseline VA, with an
OR of 2.62 (95% CI, 1.20, 5.68). Compared to treatment within 7 weeks of symptoms, patients treated after
21 weeks had increased the likelihood of poor response 2.6 fold despite treatment. Interestingly, a similar
proportion of patients lost vision, regardless of time presentation (<7 weeks and >21 weeks). This suggests
a time influence on the ability to improve vision (possibly relating to minimization of damage to the outer
retina/retinal pigment epithelium), whilst there may be other factors influencing poor outcome such as
genetic make-up. This work is currently under review (American Journal of Ophthalmology).

Ms Jacinta Spurrett, CEO of the Eye
Foundation, the ORIA’s fundraising arm.

A/Prof Jamie Craig presenting the Ida Mann lecture at
RANZCO Adelaide 2010. A/Prof Craig currently holds an
ORIA Grant. Dame Ida Mann left a significant bequest to
the ORIA. The ORIA distributes an ORIA/Ida Mann Grant
in acknowledgement of her legacy.
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Directors’ Report
For the year ended 30 June 2011
In accordance with a resolution of the directors, the directors submit herewith the financial statements of The
Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia for the year ended on that date and report as follows:
1. Directors
The names of the Directors of the company in office at the date of this report are:
A/Prof Mark D Daniell, Melbourne (Chairman)
Professor Mark Gillies, Sydney (Vice Chairman)
Professor Stuart L Graham, Sydney (Honorary Secretary)
A/Prof Robert Casson, Adelaide (Honorary Treasurer)
Dr R Max Conway, Sydney
Professor J Crowston, Melbourne
Dr Wilson Heriot, Melbourne
Dr Anthony Kwan, Brisbane
Professor David Mackey, Perth
Professor Peter J McCluskey, Sydney
Dr John Males, Sydney
Dr Richard Mills, Adelaide
Dr Andrea Vincent, New Zealand
Dr Stephanie Watson, Sydney
Professor Tien Wong, Melbourne
2. Information on Directors
The names, qualifications and period membership commenced and position held are as follows:
A/Prof Robert Casson MB BS (Hons), PhD, FRANZCO
Honorary Treasurer 2005
Dr R Max Conway PhD, MD, FRANZCO
2007
Professor J Crowston BSc, MBBS, FRCOphth, FRANZCO, PhD
2008
A/Prof Mark Daniell MB BS, MS, FRACS, FRANZCO
Chair 2001
Professor Mark Gillies MB BS, PhD, FRANZCO
Vice Chairman 2004
Professor Stuart Graham MB BS, MS, PhD, FRANZCO, FRACS
Honorary Secretary 2001
Dr Wilson Heriot MB BS, FRANZCO, FRACS
2009
Dr Anthony Kwan MBChB (UK), MD (London), FRCOphth (UK), FRANZCO
2007
Professor David Mackey MB BS, MD, FRANZCO, FRACS
2005
Professor Peter J McCluskey MB BS FRANZCO, FRACS
1984
Dr John Males MB BS, MMed, FRANZCO
2009
Dr Richard Mills MB BS, FRCS, FRACS, FRANZCO, PhD
2003
Dr Richard J Stawell MB BS, FRACS, FRANZCO (resigned Nov 2010)
1984
Dr Andrea Vincent MBChB, FRANZCO
2008
Dr Stephanie Watson BSc, MBBS, FRANZCO, PhD
2006
Professor Tien Wong MB BS, MPG, PhD, FRANZCO
2008
No Shares are held by Directors.
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3. Meetings of Directors
During the financial year three meetings of directors were held. Attendances were:
A/Prof Robert Casson, Adelaide
Dr R Max Conway, Sydney
Prof J Crowston, Melbourne
A/Prof Mark Daniell, Melbourne
Prof Mark Gillies, Sydney
Prof Stuart Graham, Sydney
Dr Anthony Kwan, Brisbane
Prof David Mackey, Perth
Prof Peter J McCluskey, Sydney
Dr John Males, Sydney
Dr Richard Mills, Adelaide
Dr Richard J Stawell, Melbourne
Dr Andrea Vincent, New Zealand
Prof Tien Wong, Melbourne
Dr Stephanie Watson, Sydney

Number eligible to attend

Number attended

3
2
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
3
2
3
3
3

3
1
2
2
2
2
3
3
2
0
3
2
2
2
1

4. Indemnifying Officer or Auditor
The company has not during or since the financial year in respect of any person who is or has been an
officer or auditor of the company or a related body corporate indemnified or made any relevant
agreement for indemnifying against a liability incurred as an officer including costs and expenses in
successfully defending legal proceedings or paid or agreed to pay a premium in respect of a contract of
insurance against a liability incurred as an officer for the costs or expenses to defend legal proceedings.
5. Principal Activities
The principal activity of the company in the course of the financial period was to provide funds for
ophthalmic research. There has been no significant change in the nature of this activity during that period.
6. Operating Results
(1) Operating Revenue
Revenue is mainly derived from investing in shares and interest bearing securities.
Net dividend interest and trust
distribution income
Less Expenses

2011

2010

Increase

%

$585.578
35,777
–––––––––––
$549,801
–––––––––––
–––––––––––

$500,646
35,853
––––––––––
$464,793
––––––––––
––––––––––

$84,932

16.96

(2) Operating surplus
The net surplus of the company before other comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2011
was $561,217 (2010: $483,128). This amount is comprised of the following:
2011
2010
Trust Fund
$561,217
$483,128
Administration
(5,031)
(7,067)
–––––––––––
––––––––––
$556,186
$476,061
–––––––––––
––––––––––
–––––––––––
––––––––––
Other comprehensive income before grants and Director of Research allocation amounted to $325,974
(2010: $383,617) and included a loss on re-arrangement of investments of $143,671 (2010: gain of
$210,367), special dividends and associated imputation credits of $448,611 (2010: $Nil) and valuation
gains on available-for-sale financial assets of $21,034 (2010: gain of $173,250).
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7. Review of Operations
The surplus for the year was $556,186 compared to $476,061 in 2010. The income of the trust fund
increased by $108,013 mainly due to an increase in dividends from investments in company shares.
Distributions from legacies and donations increased to $40,854 from $17,345 in 2010. The administrative operations of the Institute for the year resulted in a deficit of $5,031 compared with a deficit of
$7,067 in 2010.
8. Dividends
The company’s Articles of Association preclude the payment of dividends to any of its members.
9. State of Affairs
There has been no significant change in the state of affairs of the company occurring during the year.
10. Likely Developments
At the date of this report, there are no known unusual developments that will affect the results of the
company’s operations in subsequent financial years.
11. Share Options
No share options were issued during the year.
12. Directors’ Benefits
With the exception of the grants made or allocated to Assoc. Professor Robert Casson, Professor Stuart
Graham, Assoc. Professor Mark Daniell, Dr R Max Conway and Dr Richard Mills, no director of the
company has since the end of the previous financial year, received or become entitled to receive a
benefit not disclosed in the accounts as directors’ emoluments by reason of a contract made by the
company or a related corporation with the directors, or with a firm in which he or she has a substantial
financial interest.
13. Auditor’s Independence Declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under Section 307 C of the Corporations
Act 2001 is set out at page 54.
For and on behalf of the Board.

A/Prof M Daniell
Director

Sydney
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors,
this 3rd day of September 2011
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A/Prof R Casson
Director

The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia

A.C.N. 008 394 146

A company limited by guarantee

Statement of Financial Position
As at 30 June 2011
note
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Receivables
Investments

2011000
$0000

2010000
$0000

860,199
353,251
8,059,214
__________

1,379,928
97,333
7,462,732
__________

9,272,664
__________

8,939,993
__________

150
__________
9,272,814
__________

240
__________
8,940,233
__________

551,355
15,607
__________

610,518
13,307
__________

566,962
__________
8,705,852
__________
__________

623,825
__________
8,316,408
__________
__________

–

–

9
10
11

928,558
472,556
344,968

917,800
472,556
323,934

12

6,588,619
__________
8,334,701
371,151
__________
8,705,852
__________
__________

6,283,678
__________
7,997,968
318,440
__________
8,316,408
__________
__________

3
4
5

non-Current Assets
Plant & Equipment

6

total Assets
Current Liabilities
Payables
Provision

7
8

net Assets
Equity
General Fund
Capital Funds
Research Fund
Settled Funds
Financial Assets Reserve
Capitalised Profit on Re-arrangement of
Investments and Capital Distributions
Retained Income – available for grants
total Equity

13 (a)

13 (b)

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements.
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The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia

A.C.N. 008 394 146

A company limited by guarantee

Trust Fund Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2011
note
InCOmE
dividends received from:
Other corporations
Total Dividends
Interest received from:
Other entities
trust distributions received from:
Other entities
Legacies – Anselmi Estate
– Ivy May Stephenson
Other donations and legacies received
Sundry Income
total Income for year
EXPEnsEs
AOVS meeting contribution
Donation – Singapore Eye Research Institute
Commission paid
suRPLus FOR tHE yEAR
Other Comprehensive Income
Special dividends and associated imputation credits
Valuation Gains/(Losses) on available-for-sale
financial assets
Profit/(Loss) on re-arrangement of investments
Total other comprehensive income
Surpus for the year before allocation
Grants allocated/made during the year
14
Allocation to Director of Research – Victoria 15
tOtAL COmPREHEnsIvE InCOmE
Profit attributable to Members of the Entity
Total other comprehensive income attributable to
Members of the Entity
The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements.
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2011000
$0000

2010000
$0000

456,987
__________
456,987

363,718
__________
363,718

89,156

104,352

39,433
__________
585,576
34,751
5,603
500
564
__________
626,994
__________

32,576
__________
500,646
12,914
2,931
1,500
990
__________
518,981
__________

10,000
20,000
35,777
__________
65,777
__________
561,217
__________

–
–
33,853
__________
35,853
__________
483,128
__________

448,611

–

21,034
(143,671)
__________
325,974
__________
887,191
__________
321,718
171,000
__________
492,718
__________
394,473
__________
__________

173,250
210,367
__________
383,617
__________
866,745
__________
410,950
144,000
__________
554,950
__________
311,795
__________
__________

68,499

(71,822)

325,974
__________
__________

383,617
__________
__________

The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia

A.C.N. 008 394 146

A company limited by guarantee

Administration Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2011
note
InCOmE
Membership Fees – RANZCO
Total income
EXPEnsEs
Accountancy Fees
Auditors’ Remuneration
Bank Charges
Depreciation
General Expenses
IT and Webpage Expenses
Insurance
Printing and Stationery
Staff Salaries
Superannuation Contribution
Salary Sacrificed Benefits
Provision Employee Benefits
Meeting and Travelling Expenses
total Expenses
dEFICIt FOR tHE yEAR
Other Comprehensive Income

16

13 (a)

total Comprehensive Income

2011000
$0000

2010000
$0000

120,720
__________
120,720
__________

109,000
__________
109,000
__________

23,999
4,950
190
90
4,840
719
4,149
11,677
52,937
6,230
1,200
2,300
12,470
__________
125,751
__________
(5,031)
__________–
(5,031)
__________
__________

19,950
4,950
138
144
3,698
847
4,122
9,052
51,182
5,326
1,200
(840)
16,298
__________
116,067
__________
(7,067)
__________–
(7,067)
__________
__________

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements.
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The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia

A.C.N. 008 394 146

A company limited by guarantee

Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 30 June 2011
note

2011000
$0000

2010000
$0000

335,654
89,156
39,433
40,354
5,674
120,720
100,350
63,332
500

391,710
104,352
32,576
15,845
9,259
109,000
140,000
45,791
–

–

111,900

17

(35,777)
(578,706)
(144,000)
(30,000)
(121,327)
__________
(114,637)
__________

(35,853)
(509,859)
(164,000)
–
(123,757)
__________
126,964
__________

3

314,027
6,221,695
(6,940,814)
__________
(405,092)
__________
(519,729)
1,379,928
__________
860,199
__________
__________

–
19,339,296
(18,843,366)
__________
495,930
__________
622,894
757,034
__________
1,379,928
__________
__________

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Receipts
Dividends Received
Interest Received
Trust Distributions
Legacies
Other Revenue
RANZCO – Reimbursement of membership fees
Contributions from RANZCO Eye Foundation
Contribution from Glaucoma Australia Inc
Donations received
Anselmi and Ivy May Stephenson Legacies
transferred from capital
Payments
Commissions
Research Grants Paid
Payments to Director of Research – Victoria
Other Grants and Contributions
Other
Net Cash (Used in)/Provided by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Special Dividends – Capital Reduction
Proceeds from Re-arrangement of Investments
Payments for Investments
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 1 July 2010
Cash and Cash Equivalents at 30 June 2011

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements.
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–
(5,031)
–
5,031
__________–
__________–
__________

Balance at 1 July 2010
Profit for Year
Total Other Comprehensive Income
Transfers to/(from) Reserves
Transferred to Profit for the Period
Balance at 30 June 2011

917,880
–
–
10,758
__________–
928,558
__________
__________

1,053,756
–
–
(135,956)
__________–
917,800
__________
__________

The accompanying Notes form part of these financial statements.

–
(7,067)
–
7,067
__________–
__________–
__________

$

$

472,556
–
–
–
–
__________
472,556
__________
__________

472,556
–
–
–
–
__________
472,556
__________
__________
6,283,679
–
304,940
–
–
__________
6,588,619
__________
__________

6,073,312
–
210,367
–
__________–
6,283,679
__________
__________

$

Realised Profits on
Re-arrangement of
Investments and
Capital distributions

Research
Fund

Accumulated
surplus/(deficits)

$

CAPItAL Funds
settled
Funds

A company limited by guarantee

GEnERAL Fund

A.C.N. 008 394 146

Balance at 1 July 2009
Profit for Year
Total Other Comprehensive Income
Transfers to/(from) Reserves
Transferred to Profit for the Period
Balance at 30 June 2010

for the year ended 30 June 2011

Statement of Changes in Equity

The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia

323,934
–
21,034
–
__________–
344,968
__________
__________

150,684
–
173,250
–
–
__________
323,934
__________
__________

$

Financial
Assets
Reserve

318,440
68,499
–
(15,788)
_________–
371,151
_________
_________

261,373
(71,822)
–
128,889
_________–
318,440
_________
_________

$

Retained
Income

8,316,408
63,468
325,974
–
–
_________
8,705,852
_________
_________

8,011,681
(78,889)
383,617
–
–
_________
8,316,408
_________
_________

$

tOtAL

The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia

A.C.N. 008 394 146

A company limited by guarantee

Notes to and forming part of the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011
1 Statement of Accounting Policies
The financial statements are for the Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia, incorporated and domiciled
in Australia. The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia is a company limited by guarantee.
(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance
with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the
Corporations Act 2001.
The accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and is based on historical
costs and does not take into account changing money values or, except where stated, current valuations
of non current assets. Cost is based on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.
The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the company in the
preparation of the financial report.
(b) Income tax

The company is an approved research institute and is exempt from income tax.
(c) Transfers to Capital Funds

(i) Capital profits and losses on disposal of investments and capital distributions
Realised capital profits and losses on disposal of investments are brought to account in the trust
fund as profit/(loss) on rearrangement of investments, however, these amounts are transferred to
capital funds and do not form part of accumulated income.
Capital distributions and special dividends together with associated imputation credits recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income are also transferred to capital fund and do not form part
of accumulated income.
(ii) General Research Capital Fund
Five percent of the net surplus of the General Fund including imputation credits are transferred to
the General Research Capital Fund this financial year.
(iii) Allocation of income to each fund
During the year ended 30 June 1993, the investments of the Institute were separated into the
D.W. Research Fund and the General Fund in the ratio of 72% and 28% respectively. As the flow
of investment and donation income to and from the two funds does not occur in the same
proportion, the ratio of the D.W. Research Fund and the General Fund is no longer at 72% and 28%.
Income from the General Fund which comprises all funds except the D.W. Research Fund, is
allocated as follows:
Research Fund
10.0%
Esme Anderson
51.4%
G.J. Williams
8.9%
B. Mitchell
8.9%
Dame Ida Mann
12.5%
R. & L. Lowe Research
8.3%
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A company limited by guarantee

If and when further donations are received by specific fund(s) the allocation of future income will
be distributed to each fund in accordance with its revised proportion to the General Fund.
Fifty per cent of the income derived from the D.W. Research Fund and its investments is allocated
to the Director of Research Victoria.
(d) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at
call deposits with banks.
(e) Investments

Investments are carried at fair value. Changes in fair value will be held in an equity reserve until the
asset is disposed, at which time the changes in fair value will be brought to account through the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(f) Revenue

Interest and dividends are recognised when received.
Grants, donations and distributions income are recognised when received.
(g) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

All revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST),
except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office. In these
circumstances the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item
of the expense. Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position are shown inclusive of
GST.
(h) Financial instruments

Recognition and initial measurement
Financial instruments, incorporating financial assets and financial liabilities, are recognised when the
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs where the instrument is
not classified as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial instruments are classified and measured
as set out below.
Classification and subsequent measurement
(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method.
(ii) Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed or
determinable payments, and it is the entity’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. They are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
(iii) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated as such
or that are not classified in any of the other categories. They comprise investments in the equity of other
entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or determinable payments.
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(iv) Financial liabilities

Non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.
Fair value
Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments. Valuation techniques are
applied to determine the fair value for all unlisted securities, including recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to similar instruments and option pricing models.
Impairment
At each reporting date, the entity assesses whether there is objective evidence that a financial instrument
has been impaired. In the case of available-for-sale financial instruments, a prolonged decline in the
value of the instrument is considered to determine whether an impairment has arisen. Impairment losses
are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
(i) Impairment of assets

At each reporting date, the entity reviews the carrying values of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to
the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its recoverable amount is
expensed to the statement of comprehensive income.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the entity estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
2 Members’ guarantee
If the company is wound up the Memorandum of Association states that each member is required to
contribute a maximum of $2.00 each towards meeting any outstanding obligations of the company.
2011
$

2010
$

3 Cash and Cash Equivalents
General Account
Donations Account
D W Research Fund Account
4

860,199
__________
__________

1,379,928
__________
__________

353,251
__________
353,251
__________
__________

97,333
__________
97,333
__________
__________

7,754,214
__________
7,754,214
__________

6,622,732
__________
6,622,732
__________

305,000
__________
305,000
__________

840,000
__________
840,000
__________

8,059,214
__________
__________

7,462,732
__________
__________

Investments
Shares in listed corporations and other securities
Total available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity investments
Bank Bills – at cost
Total held-to-maturity investments
Total Investments

44

1,033,641
18,775
327,513
__________

Receivables
Sundry Debtors

5

760,403
42,943
56,853
__________
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6 Plant and Equipment
Office equipment – at cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

A company limited by guarantee

2011
$

2010
$

2,288
(2,138)
__________
150
__________
__________

2,288
(2,048)
__________
240
__________
__________

Reconciliation
Reconciliation of the carrying amount of plant and equipment at
the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year:
Carrying amount at beginning of year
240
Additions
–
Less: Depreciation expense
(90)
__________
Carrying amount at end of year
150
__________
__________

384
–
(144)
__________
240
__________
__________

7 Payables
Creditors and Accruals
Grants Payable
Director of Research – Victoria (refer note 15)

27,705
352,650
171,000
__________
551,355
__________
__________

20,562
445,956
144,000
__________
610,518
__________
__________

15,607
__________
__________

13,307
__________
__________

596,445

586,990

10,758
__________
607,203
__________

9,455
__________
596,445
__________

Anselmi Estate
Balance 1 July 2010
Allocation during year
Transfer during year
Balance 30 June 2011

290,979
–
–
__________
290,979
__________

429,933
–
(138,954)
__________
290,979
__________

Ivy may stephenson Estate
Balance 1 July 2010
Allocation during the year
Transfer during year
Balance 30 June 2011
Total

30,376
–
–
__________
30,376
__________
928,558
__________
__________

36,833
–
(6,457)
__________
30,376
__________
917,800
__________
__________

200,000
124,326
25,500
26,023
56,707
40,000
__________
472,556
__________
__________

200,000
124,326
25,500
26,023
56,707
40,000
__________
472,556
__________
__________

8 Provisions
Employee Benefits
9 Research Capital Fund
General
Balance 1 July 2010
Allocation to Capital:
– 5% Surplus & Imputation Credits & Other Legacies
Balance 30 June 2011

10 Settled Funds
D W Research Funds
Esme Anderson
G J Williams
B Mitchell
Dame Ida Mann (est. 31/03/84)
Ronald and Lois Lowe
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2011
$

11 Financial Assets Reserve
Balance 1 July 2010
Revaluation increment
Balance 30 June 2011

323,934
21,034
__________
344,968
__________
__________

2010
$
150,684
173,250
__________
323,934
__________
__________

Financial assets reserve records unrealised gains on
revaluation of financial assets to fair value.
12 Capitalised Profit on Re-arrangement of Investments,
Capital Distribution and Special Dividends
Allocation of Realised
Profit/(Loss) on Re-arrangement
Balance
of Investments, Capital
Balance
30/06/2010
distributions and special
30/06/2011
dividends
$
$
$
Research Fund:
General
117,980
7,821
125,801
Anselmi Estate
42,261
2,799
45,060
Ivy May Stephenson
106
10
116
D.W. Research Funds
4,683,872
198,643
4,882,515
Esme Anderson
832,177
54,637
886,814
G.J. Williams
142,803
9,460
152,263
B. Mitchell
140,867
9,460
150,327
Dame Ida Mann
199,092
13,287
212,379
Ronald & Lois Lowe
124,521
8,823
133,355
__________
__________
__________
6,283,678
304,940
6,588,619
__________
__________
__________
__________
__________
__________
note
13 Accumulated funds

2011
$

2010
$

(a) Administration

Accumulated Deficits – 1 July 2010
Total Comprehensive Income
Total available for appropriation
Aggregate of amounts transferred from Administration 13(b)
Accumulated Deficits – 30 June 2011

–
(5,031)
__________
(5,031)
5,031
__________
–
__________
__________

–
(7,067)
__________
(7,067)
7,067
__________
–
__________
__________

318,440
68,499
__________
386,939

261,373
(71,822)
__________
189,551

(5,031)
(10,758)
__________
371,150
__________
__________

(7,067)
135,956
__________
318,440
__________
__________

(b) Trust Fund

Retained Income – 1 July 2010
Total Comprehensive Income
Total available for appropriation
Aggregate of amounts transferred to
General/Capital Funds:
Administration
Research Trust
Retained Income – 30 June 2011
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2011
$

2010
$

14 Grants Allocated/Made During the Year
Prof K A Williams and Prof D J Coster
Dr S Wickremasinghe and Prof R Guymer
Prof M Gillies
A/Prof J Craig and Dr K Laurie
Dr K Burdon and Dr R Mills
Dr S Watson, A/Prof L Foster and Dr M Sarris
Dr P Sanfilippo and Prof D Mackey
Dr L Robman
Prof P McCluskey, Dr M Madigan Dr R M Conway, Prof N Rao
Dr L Lim
Ms F O’Hare
Dr M Schache
Dr J S Gilhotra and Dr M Dhanapala
Dr A Cornish, Dr L Lim and Dr I Wicks
Prof Paul Baird
Prof D Coster, Dr S Klebe and Prof K Williams
Prof R Casson
Prof S Graham, Dr A Klistorner and Dr Y You
Dr K Brown, Prof M Daniell, Dr K Abberton and
Dr B Ozcelik
Prof J McAvoy & A/Prof F Lovicu
Dr V Chrysostomou
Dr K Burdon, A/Prof J Craig, Dr J Muecke,
Dr A Rudkin and Dr J Nicholl
Dr S Sharma, Dr T Chataway, Dr B Liamas,
Dr G Snibson and Dr R Mills
Dr J Khong

Deduct contribution from:
Glaucoma Foundation Australia Inc
RANZCO Eye Foundation
RANZCO Eye Foundation (Renensson Bequest)

50,000
43,550
49,960
49,200
49,650
49,950
28,700
46,600
49,900
48,100
45,791
49,905
35,435
49,900
40,000
48,000
30,000
45,000
49,500
45,000
46,000
48,000
40,000
44,000
_________
485,400
_________
_________

_________
596,741
_________
_________

63,332
100,350
_________–
163,682
_________
321,718
_________
_________

45,791
115,000
25,000
_________
185,791
_________
410,950
_________
_________
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2011
$

2010
$

15 Funds Allocated to Director of Ophthalmic
Research – Victoria
Balance as at 1 July 2010
Interest for the year
Allocation for year
Payment made to Director of Research
Balance as at 30 June 2010

144,000
1,408
171,000
_________
316,408
145,408
_________
171,000
_________
_________

164,000
1,024
144,000
_________
309,024
165,024
_________
144,000
_________
_________

4,950
_________–
4,950
_________
_________

4,950
–
_________
4,950
_________
_________

394,473
(5,031)
_________
389,442
_________
_________

311,795
(7,067)
_________
304,728
_________
_________

90
2,300
(255,918)
7,143
(93,306)

144
(840)
139,892
(225)
86,882

27,000

(20,000)

(21,034)
(170,354)
_________
(114,637)
_________
_________

(173,250)
(210,367)
_________
126,964
_________
_________

16 Auditors Remuneration
Auditing accounts
Other services

17 Reconciliation of Net Cash Provided by
Operating Activities to Results for year
Net Surplus/(Deficit)
– Trust Fund
– Administration

Depreciation
Provision for Employee Benefits
(Increase)Decrease in Receivables
Increase/(Decrease) in Creditors and Accrued Expenses
Increase/(Decrease) in Grants Payable
Increase/(Decrease) in allocation to Director of Research –
Victoria
Valuation (Gains) on available-for-sale
financal assets
(Profit)/Loss on Rearrangement of Investments
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

18 Disclosures on Directors and other Key Management Personnel
directors
The following directors received grants during the year. These are detailed at note 14.
A/Prof Robert Casson
Prof Stuart Graham
A/Prof Mark Daniell
Dr Richard Mills
Dr R Max Conway
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The names of the directors who have held office during the financial year are:
A/Prof Mark D Daniell, Melbourne (Chairman)
Professor Mark Gillies, Sydney (Vice Chairman)
Professor Stuart L Graham, Sydney (Honorary Secretary)
A/Prof Robert Casson, Adelaide (Honorary Treasurer)
Dr R Max Conway, Sydney
Professor J Crowston, Melbourne
Dr Wilson Heriot, Melbourne
Dr Anthony Kwan, Brisbane
Professor David Mackey, Perth
Professor Peter J McCluskey, Sydney
Dr John Males, Sydney
Dr Richard Mills, Adelaide
Dr Richard J Stawell, Melbourne
Dr Andrea Vincent, New Zealand
Dr Stephanie Watson, Sydney
Professor Tien Wong, Melbourne
Key management Personnel
Other Key Management Personnel include Executive Officer, Anne Dunn Snape.
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the entity, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of that entity. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of
an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Key management Personnel Compensation
Key Management Personnel has been taken to comprise the directors and one member of the executive
management responsible for the day-to-day financial and operational management of the entity.
2011
2010
$
$
(a) Short-term employee benefits
56,437
51,542
(b) Post-employment benefits
6,230
5,326
(c) Other long-term benefits
–
–
(d) Termination benefits
–
–
(e) Share-based payment
––––––––
–––––––––
62,667
56,868
_______
________
_______
________
19 Financial Instruments
(a) Financial Risk Management Policies

The entity’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, local money market instruments, short-term investments, accounts receivable and payable.
The entity does not have any derivative instruments at 30 June 2011.
(i) Treasury Risk Management

An investment committee consisting of Board members of the entity meet on a regular basis to analyse
financial risk exposure and to evaluate treasury management strategies in the context of the most recent
economic conditions and forecasts.
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The committee’s overall risk management strategy seeks to assist the entity in meeting its financial
targets, whilst minimising potential adverse effects on financial performance.
Risk management policies are approved and reviewed by the Board on a regular basis. These include
credit risk policies and future cash flow requirements.

(ii) Financial Exposures and Management Risk

The main risks the entity is exposed to through its financial instruments are interest rate risk, liquidity
risk and credit risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is managed with a mixture of fixed and floating rate debt.
Foreign currency risk
The entity is not exposed to fluctuations in foreign currencies.
Liquidity risk
The entity manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast cash flows.
Credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk, excluding the value of any collateral or other security, at balance
date to recognised financial assets, is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those
assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements.
The entity does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single receivable or group of
receivables under financial instruments entered into by the entity.
Price risk
The group is not exposed to any material commodity price risk.
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860,199
_______
_______

net Financial Assets

_______–

860,199
_______

–
–
_______–

860,199

2011
$

_______–

–

N/A
5,50
–

N/A
5.21
–

–

4.25

4.50

2010
%

_______

1,379,928
_______

_______–

_______–

1,379,928
_______

–
–
_______–

1,379,928

2010
$

Floating Interest

Total Financial Liabilities

Financial Liabilities
Payables

Total Financial Assets

Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Listed Investments
Shares
Bank Bills
Receivables

2011
%

Weighted Average
Effective Interest
Rate

–

305,000
_______
_______

_______–

_______–

305,000
_______

–
305,000
_______–

2011
$

840,000
_______
_______

_______–

______–

840,000
_______

–
840,000
_______–

–

2010
$

–
______
______

______–

______–

______–

–
–
______–

–

2011
$

–
______
______

______–

______–

______–

–
–
______–

–

2010
$

Fixed Interest Rate maturing
Within 1 year
1 to 5 years

–

7,555,117
________
________

552,354
________

552,354
________

8,107,466
________

7,754,214
–
353.252
________

2011
$

–

7,330,583
________
________

610,518
________

610,518
________

6,720,065
________

6,622,732
–
97.333
________

2010
$

non Interest
Bearing

7,860,112
________
________

552,354
________

552,354
________

8,412,466
________

7,754,214
305,000
353,252
________

860,199

2011
$

9,550,511
________
________

610,518
________

610,518
________

8,569,305
________

6,622,732
840,000
97,333
________

1,379,928

2010
$

total Carrying Amount
Per statement of
financial position

The entity’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates
and the effective weighted average interest rates on those financial assets and financial liabilities, is as follows:

(b) Financial Instrument Composition and Maturity Analysis

19 Financial Instruments (cont)
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19 Financial Instruments (cont)
(c) Net Fair Values
The net fair values of listed investments have been valued at the quoted market bid price at balance date.
For other assets and other liabilities the net fair value approximates their carrying value. No financial
assets and financial liabilities are readily traded on organised markets in standardised form other than
listed investments.
The aggregate net fair values and carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities are
disclosed in the statement of financial position and in the notes to and forming part of the financial
statements.
(d) Sensitivity Analysis
Interest Rate Risk

The entity has performed a sensitivity analysis relating to its exposure to interest rate risk at balance
date. This sensitivity analysis demonstrates the effect on the current year results and equity which could
result from a change in this risk.
Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

At 30 June 2011, the effect on profit and equity as a result of changes in the interest rate, with all other
variables remaining constant, would be as follows:
Carrying amount

Interest rate risk

$

–1% Profit

+1% Profit

–1% Equity

+1% Equity

2011 Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents

860,199

(8,602)

8,602

(8,602)

8,602

2010 Financial Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents

1,379,928

(13,799)

13,799

(13,799)

13,799

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
The Directors of the company declare that:
1. The financial statements and notes as set out on pages 37–52:
(a) comply with Accounting Standards and Corporations Act 2001; and
(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2011 and performance for the year
ended on that date of the company.
2. In the directors’ opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its
debts as and when they become due and payable.
The declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.
On behalf of the Board.

Assoc/Prof M Daniell
Director
Sydney, this 3rd day of September, 2011
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Postal Address:
P.O. Box 307
Balwyn 3103

Partners:
John E Volders
Larry R Gilmour
Grant W Petering
Consultant:
Harold E Macmillan

Independent Audit Report to the Members of
The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia
(A COMPANY LIMITED BY GUARANTEE) ACN 008 393 146

Report on the Financial Report

We have audited the accompanying financial report of The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia (the
company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, and the trust fund
statement of comprehensive income, administration statement of comprehensive income, statement of
changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and
fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or eror.
Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant
ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation
of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act
2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the
directors of The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia on 31th August 2011, would be in the same
terms if provided to the directors as at the date of this auditor’s report.
Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion the financial report of The Ophthalmic Research Institute of Australia is in accordance with
the Corporations Act 2001, including:
(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2011, and its performance
for the year ended on that date; and
(ii) complying witht Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.
Orr, Martin & Waters
Chartered Accountants

L.R. Gilmour, Partner
461 Whiehorse Road, Balwyn Vic 3103
Dated this 31st day of August 2011.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2011 there have
been:
(i) no contraventions of the auditor’s independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act
2001 in relation to the audit; and
(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.
Orr, Martin & Waters
Chartered Accountants

L.R. Gilmour, Partner
461 Whiehorse Road, Balwyn Vic 3103
Dated this 31st day of August 2011.
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